

SELECTIVE REDUCTION OF CARBONYL COMPOUNDS WITH RHODACYCLES

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University

of Liverpool for the degree of MPhil in Philosophy

by

Liangliang Zhao

February 2022

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Jianliang Xiao, for his constant support and encouragement during the course of my work. I am grateful for his teaching and guidance. His enthusiastic attitude, innovative ideas and scientific knowledge have inspired me profoundly. I truly feel privileged to have joined his research group.

I would like to express my gratitude to my friends and colleagues, from the past and present members, who helped me through the last three years. In particular, thanks to Ahmed, Elilot, Zhiliang, Prashant and Naomi. I want to thank Zhenyu for their friendship and supports. Thanks for Zhiliang and Prashant for their technical support and their patience with me when I have trouble with the GC. I thank all my friends I met in Liverpool, especially Yang, Ii, Zhenyu, Yue and Haotian for all wonderful moment we had, their constant support before and during my writing. All of you will always be in my heart.

A special thank goes to my teacher and friend Konstantin for sharing with me good times as well as difficult moment, for his great friendship during last three years, which I know will never cease. Heartfelt thanks are expressed to my family for their continued unconditional support.

ii

ABSTRACT

Reduction of carbonyl compounds is a fundamental transformation in organic synthesis to produce valuable products in both academia and industry. Transfer hydrogenation (TH) using non-H₂ hydrogen source is a convenient and safe alternative to direct hydrogenation with hazardous hydrogen gas. Compared with other TH of carbonyl compounds, transfer hydrogenation with methanol as hydrogen source is less developed, especially in obtaining high chemo-selectivity. Furthermore, TH and methylation of unsaturated compounds may be achieved in one reaction; the development of this area is even rarer.

Chapter 1 provides a brief introduction of catalytic transfer hydrogenation and the use of formic acid, isopropanol, and methanol as hydrogen sources. It also describes previous achievements on the TH of carbonyl compounds. Moreover, the application of iridium and rhodium catalysts in TH has also been introduced.

Chapter 2 presents a highly efficient cyclometaled rhodium complex for the TH of various ketones with methanol as hydrogen source. The rhodacycle showed excellent chemo-selectivity of the reduction of C=C in the TH of α , β -unsaturated ketones. The hydroxy functionality on the imine ligand is shown to be crucial for this remarkable activity.

iii

Chapter 3 describes a simple and efficient method for TH and methylation of α , β -unsaturated ketones in a one pot reaction. Despite the scope of substrate being limited, it still provides the possibility of chain growth with mild reaction conditions.

ABBREVIATIONS

α	Alpha
β	Beta
Ac	Acetyl
Acac	Acetylacetonate
Ar	Aryl
Bu	Butyl
atm	Atmosphere
Bn	Benzyl
¹³ C	Carbon 13
Cat.	Catalyst
CD₃OD	Deuterated methanol
conv.	Conversion
Cp*	Pentamethylcyclopentadiene
Су	Cyclohexyl
DCM	Dichloromethane
DME	Dimethyl ether
d	Doublet
DCM	Dichloromethane
dd	Doublet of doublets
ddd	Doublet of doublet of doublets

ddq	Doublet of doublet of quartets
ddt	Doublet of doublet of triplets
dm	Doublet of multiplet
dq	Doublet of quartets
dt	Doublet of triplets
equiv.	Equivalent(s)
Et	Ethyl
Et₃N	Triethylamine
Et ₂ O	diether ether
EtOAc	ethyl acetate
Et al.	And others
FT	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope
FT	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s)
FT g h	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s)
FT g h ¹ H	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s) Proton
FT g h ¹ H H ₂	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s) Proton Molecular hydrogen
FT g h ¹ H H ₂ HRMS	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s) Proton Molecular hydrogen High resolution mass spectroscopy
FT g h ¹ H H ₂ HRMS	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s) Proton Molecular hydrogen High resolution mass spectroscopy Hertz
FT g h ¹ H H ₂ HRMS Hz	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s) Proton Molecular hydrogen High resolution mass spectroscopy Hertz
FT g h ¹ H H ₂ HRMS Hz IR	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s) Proton Molecular hydrogen High resolution mass spectroscopy Hertz Infrared
FT g h 1 H H2 HRMS Hz IR Me	Formic acid/triethylamine azeotrope Gram(s) Hour(s) Proton Molecular hydrogen High resolution mass spectroscopy Hertz Multiplet Multiplet

min	Minute(s)
mL	Milliliter
mmol	Millimole(s)
MS	Mass spectrometry
OAc	Acetate
Ph	Phenyl
PhMe	Toluene
PPh₃	Triphenylphosphine
ppm	Parts per million
q	Quartet
Rh	Rhodium
r. t.	Room temperature
S	Singlet
sept	Septet
t	Triplet
td	Triplet of doublets
TFE	2,2,2-Trifluoroethanol
ТН	Transfer hydrogenation
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TMS	Tetramethylsilane
TOF	Turnover frequency
tt	Triplet of triplets

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
ABBREVIATIONS	V
Chapter 1: Introduction and objectives	1
1.1 Hydrogenation	2
1.2 Transfer hydrogenations	4
1.2.1 Hydrogen donors in TH	5
1.2.2 Formic acid as hydrogen donor	8
1.2.3 Isopropanol as hydrogen donor	9
1.2.4 Methanol as hydrogen donor	9
1.2.5 Mechanistic study	13
1.3 Transfer hydrogenation of carbonyl compounds	15
1.3.1 Iridacycles catalysed TH reactions	17
1.3.2 Rhodacycles catalysed TH reactions	23
1.4 Conclusion and aims of the thesis	28
1.5 References	31
Chapter 2: Chemoselective reduction of unsaturated ke	tones with
methanol	40
2.1 Introduction	41
2.2 Aims of the projects	44
	viii

2.3 Results and discussion45
2.3.1 Synthesis of rhodacycles45
2.3.2 Chemoselective reduction of unsaturated ketones47
2.4 Proposed mechanism54
2.5 Conclusion55
2.6 Experimental56
2.6.1 General information56
2.6.2 General procedure for the imine ligands preparation57
2.6.3 General procedure for the rhodium complexes preparation58
2.6.4 General procedures for TH of ketones
2.6.5 Analytic data of isolated products59
2.6.6 NMR spectra68
2.6.7 GC traces
2.7 References95
Chapter 3: Methanol as both Hydrogen and α -alkylation source:
hydrogenation and methylation of α , β -Unsaturated Ketones
3.1 Introduction99
3.2 Results and discussion105
3.3 Proposed mechanism116
3.4 Conclusion118
3.5 Experimental119 ix

3.5.1 General information	119
3.5.2 General procedure for the iridium complexes preparation	120
3.5.3 General procedure for the TH and methylation of unsaturate	ed
ketones in methanol	120
3.5.4 Analytical data of isolated products	121
3.5.5 NMR Spectra	128
3.6 References	145
Chapter 4: Conclusion	149
References	152

Chapter 1

Chapter 1: Introduction and objectives

1.1 Hydrogenation

The essence of catalytic chemistry is to synthesis the required compounds with the simplest, most economical, and most convenient pathways. In the early history of organic chemistry, the synthesis of the desired compounds always required complex synthetic routes and leads to lots of by-products, which also involved a lot of purification steps. In recent years, with continuous exploratory studies, various catalysts have been created and used to simplify the route of organic synthesis. Among this, the catalysts with transition metal complexes have become one of the most important and efficient solutions in organic chemistry. Transition metal catalysts have been widely applied as useful tools in modern synthetic organic chemistry due to their different reactivity in the realization of various molecular transformations,^[1] such as hydrogenation of aldehydes,^[2-3] ketones^[4] and other unsaturated compounds.^[5-7]

The hydrogenation reaction is one of the most important reactions in organic chemistry, and it is widely used in industrial applications, such as synthesis of pharmaceuticals, agrochemicals, fine chemicals, flavours and fragrances.^[8-10] This reaction generally has the characteristics of high selectivity and being easy to carry out. It is usually used to reduce or hydrogenate unsaturated compounds with the presence of catalysts such as those based on Rh, Pt, Ru.^[8] Rylander used to define it as "one of the most powerful weapons in the arsenal of the synthetic organic chemist."^[11]

In around 1823, the first hydrogenation reaction was applied to the commercial production, which is the Pt-catalysed reaction of hydrogen with oxygen.^[12] Soon thereafter, Normann obtained a patent for liquid phase hydrogenation.^[13] This was the beginning of the hydrogenation of edible oils and fatty acids and has now been developed into a global industry. Normann firstly used Ni catalysts to "harden" liquid oleic acid into more valuable solid stearic acid, and then applied these catalysts in the hydrogenation of fats and oils.

In the early twentieth century, hydrogenation was used for the industrial production of methanol, ammonia, and liquid hydrocarbons. Among them, Haber and Bosch discovered that the hydrogenation of nitrogen could be used to produce fertilizers in large quantities.^[14] Then in 1913, Mittasch and Schneider obtained the Fischer – Tropsch (FT) process patent, which converts carbon monoxide and hydrogen into hydrocarbons in the presence of a heterogeneous catalyst. Since then, hydrogenation has been widely used in the synthesis of various compounds.^[15]

Usually, hydrogenation catalysts include homogeneous catalysts and heterogeneous catalysts. The homogeneous catalysts are usually based on

platinum group metals.^[16,17] In more recent years, due to the requirement of green chemistry and environmental chemistry, some earth-abundant metals, such as iron, copper, and nickel,^[18] have also been widely applied in different catalytic systems. Moreover, heterogeneous catalysts have also received extensive attention due to their being commercially economic, and they have attracted more attention in the industrial field. Compared with homogeneous catalysis, heterogeneous catalysis has the advantages of easy processing of product separation and the potential for recycling of catalyst, such as Pd/C based catalyst.^[18]

1.2 Transfer hydrogenation

Compared with direct hydrogenation, the hydrogen source for the hydrogenation reaction from non-hydrogen is called transfer hydrogenation (TH) reaction. Braude and Linstead pointed out that hydrogen transfer reactions can be grouped into three different types:^[19]

1. Hydrogen transfer occurs within one molecule.

2. Transferring between identical donor and acceptor units; this class is called hydrogen disproportionation.

3. The reactions that occurs between different acceptor and donors is called transfer dehydrogenation.

With the difference from direct hydrogenation reactions, TH is a reaction in which H is transferred to an acceptor molecule from another molecular species (other than molecular hydrogen) acting as a donor. TH is also a robust and convenient method to produce saturated compounds using hydrogen sources other than hazardous and pressurized H₂, and no special equipment is required. And also, the reaction could be achieved under milder condition. The hydrogen sources for TH are usually inexpensive and readily available, such as isopropanol and formic acid.^[19,20] Hence, TH has been widely used during the last few decades and has gained great attention in organic synthesis.^[17,18]

1.2.1 Hydrogen donors in TH

The selection of hydrogen donor is an important part of the reaction. If the hydrogen molecule is able to coordinate to the catalytic centre and get activated, it could be the most beneficial choice.

The process of the abstraction of hydrogen from a hydrogen donor with a catalyst under mild conditions may be easily achieved,^[21] and also the donor should not strongly bind to the catalytic centre before the donation being achieved.

The selection of the hydrogen donor is mainly due to the following

parameters:

(a) the type of reaction (transition metal catalysed, MPV reaction, etc.).

(b) the chemical nature of the targeted functional group that is to be converted.

(c) the solubility in the reaction medium (ability to act as a solvent of the corresponding reaction).

(d) the influence on the equilibrium of the reaction.

(e) no formation of toxic side products.

(f) allows mild reaction conditions.

(g) the rate of the exchange between the metal-coordinated and the bulk form of the donor molecule.^[21]

Various compounds such as hydrocarbons, alcohols, formic acid, and its derivatives could be applied as hydrogen donor in catalytic TH reactions (Scheme 1). Among them, alcohols are the major group of hydrogen donors for TH reactions, which include primary and secondary alcohols. Secondary alcohols are better donor molecules than the primary counterparts (ethanol) due to the sigma inductive electronic effect.

Chapter 1



Scheme 1. Selected hydrogen donor molecules.

On the other hand, when primary alcohols are used as hydrogen donor, the generated aldehydes could cause catalyst poisons. The activity of the metal centre could be hindered by CO molecules (from decomposed primary alcohols during the reaction).^[22,23] Hence, 2propanol is one of the most frequently used donor species due to its being inexpensive, non-toxic, commercially available. This molecule has the advantage of acting as a solvent of a transfer reaction as well (Scheme 1). Moreover, the huge excess of the donor species promotes the shift of the redox equilibrium in the direction of the desired product. The consequence of the hydrogen transfer is the formation of acetone, which can be easily removed from the reaction mixture, representing a further benefit of the system.

Formic acid (HCOOH) has been proposed as a potential liquid storage medium capable of releasing H₂ under mild conditions via catalytic decomposition.^[24,28] For practical applications, suitable catalysts are essential to facilitate HCOOH decomposition via dehydrogenation

(HCOOH \rightarrow H₂ + CO₂) as opposed to dehydration (HCOOH \rightarrow H₂O + CO).

1.2.2 Formic acid as hydrogen donor

Formic acid (FA) is considered as one of the most promising materials for hydrogen storage today. Even though its production is mainly based on fossil feedstock,^[29] recent developments indicate a large potential pool of renewable sources, namely biomass^[30-32] and CO₂ hydrogenation.^[33] Even though its hydrogen content (4.4 wt%) falls short of the milestones set by the US Department of Energy for 2010,^[34] it surpasses that of most other state-of-the-art storage materials used today in terms of simplicity and useable/net capacity, especially where capacities at ambient temperature are concerned.^[35]

The dehydration pathway (HCOOH \rightarrow CO + H₂O) producing CO as the impurity, which is toxic for fuel cell catalysts, is an undesired side reaction and must be strictly controlled.^[36,37] In the presence of gas phase CO in the reaction, carbon monoxide forms strong coordination bonds with transition metals, which could lead to catalyst poisoning (deactivation of the catalyst core). The selectivity and reactivity of FA decomposing to CO₂ and H₂ are crucial for FA-based hydrogen storage, in which CO₂ as the product, besides H₂, can be recycled to render a carbon-neutral cycle,^[38-40] and they are strongly dependent on the catalysts used. The

commercially available formic acid/trimethylamine azeotrope (F/T) also shows a high solubility in various solvents at a wide range of temperatures (20 to 60 °C).

1.2.3 Isopropanol as hydrogen donor

Isopropanol is one of the best choices due to its ability to easily donate hydrogen. Isopropyl alcohol could often be used as both solvent and hydride source in the Meerwein-Ponndorf-Verley reduction and other TH reactions.

In 2016, the Paone group reported hydrogenolysis of benzyl phenyl ether at 240 °C with Pd/Fe_3O_4 as catalyst in the presence of isopropanol as hydrogen donor.^[41]

The Guo group also found that the deoxygenation of p-cresol over Ru/Nb₂O₅ using isopropanol as a solvent/H-donor, to be feasible demonstrating that 84 % toluene could be produced via the catalytic transfer hydrogenolysis in 2017.^[42]

The Wu group reported that the hydrogenolysis of various aromatic ether bonds over Ru/C with isopropanol, showing that the aromatic ether bonds were efficiently cleaved in 2018.^[43]

1.2.4 Methanol as hydrogen donor

Methanol, with the formula CH₃OH, also named as methyl alcohol, and often abbreviated as MeOH, is the simplest aliphatic alcohol. It is a light, volatile, colourless, flammable liquid with a distinctive alcoholic similar to ethanol.

It was first produced by Sir Robert Boyle through the destructive distillation of buxus in 1661.^[44] The composition of the new compounds was determined by Justus Von Liebig and J. B. A. Dumas in 1835.^[45] French chemist Paul Sabatier presented the first process that could be used to produce methanol synthetically in 1905. This process suggested that carbon dioxide and hydrogen could be reacted to produce methanol. This process also became one of the mainly methods nowadays.^[46]

With a global production of ca. 110 million metric tons a year, methanol may be a cost-effective, easily available, and eco-friendly source of hydrogen.^[47-48] However, in comparison with 2-propanol, MeOH is thermodynamically more difficult to undergo dehydrogenation to afford H₂ or metal hydride for TH.^[49]

Consequently, its use as a hydrogen source for hydrogenation has been much less documented. Examples are known of the transfer

hydrogenation of C=C double bonds in α , β -unsaturated enones, alkenes and alkyne and ketones, with ruthenium, rhodium, iridium, or nickel complexes as catalysts.^[50-60] With these catalysts, high temperatures (120-180 °C) are generally necessary to drive the hydrogenation.

In 1985, the Maitlis group first reported catalytic reduction of ketone by ruthenium complexes with methanol at 150 °C. This work provides the possibility for subsequent intense research.^[50]

Later, in 2012 Garcia and co-workers reported the reduction of α , β unsaturated dienones into the corresponding saturated ketones with a nickel catalyst [Ni(dippe)(μ -H)]₂ at 180 °C (Scheme **2**).^[51]



Scheme **2**. TH of α , β -unsaturated enones with methanol.

Then, Beller and co-workers reported that a Ru-PNP pincer has high activity and selectivity for dehydrogenation of MeOH and H₂O at 91 °C under strongly basic conditions in Nature in 2013 (Scheme **3**).^[52] An iridium N-heterocyclic carbene complex was reported for TH of aromatic ketones and imines with methanol at 120 °C by the Crabtree group with the presence of 5 equivalents of a base in 2015.^[53]



Scheme **3**. Ru-PNP catalyst reported by the Beller group.

In 2017, a series of inexpensive copper-based catalysts (Scheme **4**) were reported by Chen and co-workers, which were used for the selective TH of biomass-based furfural and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural with methanol.^[54]



Scheme 4. Copper-based catalysts for TH of furfural.

In 2020, an iridium-bipyridonate (Scheme **5**) was reported for lowtemperature TH of ketones and imines with methanol by Li and coworkers.^[55] Readily reducible or labile substituents were all tolerated by the complex without base.



Scheme **5**. Anionic bifunctional iridacycle catalysed TH of ketone and imines.

Although a few applications of methanol have been established, most of the catalytic systems still request complicated ligands or harsh reaction conditions. These all limit the development of the application of methanol. It is still challenging to achieve highly efficient usage of methanol with mild conditions. Meanwhile, in a future methanol economy, MeOH would also serve as a C1 building block for chemical synthesis. Currently, only few studies about methylation with methanol were reported with ruthenium and iridium compounds.^[56-60]

1.2.5 Mechanistic study

The mechanism of catalytic TH reactions depends strongly on the particular metal and the starting material. Two main pathways could be differentiated, the direct and the indirect mechanisms. While in the direct transfer pathway, H is transferred directly (Scheme **6**, pathway **A**) from the donor to the acceptor molecule; in the case of an indirect mechanism

(Scheme **6**, pathway **B**) a metal hydride intermediate is formed. Generally, the most relevant representatives of the direct reaction type are strong Lewis acids such as Al^{III} and Ln^{III} ions. Compared with strong Lewis acids, weak Lewis acids such as Rh, Ru, and Ir, with high affinities for hydrides, are catalytically active.^[61]

(A) Direct transfer pathway (A-substrate)

$$DH_2+A+M \longrightarrow DH \xrightarrow{M} A \left(\longrightarrow D+AH_2+M \right)$$

(B) Indirect transfer pathway

(B1) Formation of a monohydride

$$DH_2+ML \xrightarrow{} MH \left(\xrightarrow{A} HL^2+ML \right)$$

(B2) Formation of a dihydride

$$DH_2+ML \longrightarrow LMH_2 \left(\xrightarrow{A} AH_2+ML \right)$$

Scheme 6. Transfer hydrogenation mechanisms.

Strong Lewis acid metal ions are able to coordinate the donor and the acceptor molecule, activate them via polarization, and promote an intramolecular H-shift (**A** pathway). For the indirect pathway, depending on the particular catalyst, the intermediate metal hydride complex formed can transfer one (Scheme **6**, pathway **B1**) or two hydrogen atoms (Scheme **6**, pathway **B2**) to the acceptor molecule (Scheme **6**). Hydrogen transfer reactions are equilibrium reactions. The dominance of the reduction/oxidation pathways are highly dependent on the concentration of the donor and acceptor molecules and the thermodynamic stability of the species involved in the redox equilibrium.

1.3 Transfer hydrogenation of carbonyl compounds

The symbol of the carbonyl group is C=O. The carbonyl group is formed by a carbon atom and an oxygen atom connected with a double bond. Ketones and aldehydes are the most common carbonyl compounds. For the reduction of ketones and aldehydes, alcohols are used most generally, while cyclic ethers and hydroaromatic components are frequently used to reduce alkenes and alkynes. The saturation of the carbon–carbon double bonded and carbon–carbon triple bonded molecules is generally preferred to be carried out with molecular hydrogen. However, the wide range of active and selective transfer hydrogenation catalysts and the practicality of the procedure makes transfer hydrogenation a fair competitor of pathways when using molecular hydrogen as the H-source. These transformations have relevance from mechanistic aspects and synthetic viewpoints as well.

Compared with C=C bonds in alkenes, the oxygen in carbonyl

compounds draw the electron density away from the carbon and makes the carbonyl group more polar. Thus, the carbon atom in the carbonyl group has a partial positive charge and the oxygen has a partial negative charge. The dipole-dipole interaction dramatically affects the boiling point of carbonyl compounds due to the charge separation (Scheme **7**). So, the carbonyl compounds are more active than alkenes based on the polarity of C=O bond.



Scheme **7**. The resonance structure of the carbonyl group.

The chemoselective hydrogenation of a carbonyl bond in multiunsaturated aldehydes and ketones is a difficult task,^[62-65] since thermodynamics favours C=C hydrogenation over C=O by ca. 35 kJ/mol.^[66] The unsaturated alcohols are used as fragrances and drugs and thus this field has an industrial interest.

Selective reductions can be achieved using stoichiometric amounts of reducing agents such as metal hydrides.^[67] Thus, cinnamaldehyde was reduced into cinnamic alcohol with a 99% selectivity of reduction of C=O bond.^[68] The method is useful only for the small-scale production of highly priced products because they involve costly chemicals. Therefore, research efforts have been directed at developing hydrogenation processes based on heterogeneous or homogeneous catalysis. Among them, metal based catalytical hydrogenation of aldehyde and ketones is an efficient way to produce primary and secondary alcohols, which are valuable building blocks in fine chemicals and pharmaceutical industry. This type of transformation has been established using catalysts based on transition metals, such as iridium,^[69] palladium,^[70-71] titanium,^[72-73] rhodium,^[74-75] or ruthenium.^[76-78] The reduction using simple organic molecules as hydrogen donors in the presence of a catalyst makes the hydrogenation process safer and environmentally friendly. Among them, iridium and rhodium-based catalysts have gained great attention due to their high activity.

1.3.1 Iridacycles catalysed TH reaction

Cyclometallated pentamethylcyclopentadienyl complexes have been used to catalyse a variety of organic transformations over the last decades. However, the huge potential of Cp* iridacycles has only been truly recognised in recent years due to its significant activities for a range of organic reactions such as hydrogenation, TH, reductive amination, dehydrogenation, hydrosilylation, oxidation, racemisation, etc.^[79-80]

An iridacycle (Scheme 8) was synthesised by Ikariya and co-workers

via reaction between $[Cp*IrCl_2]_2$ and the appropriate benzylamines in CH_2Cl_2 at room temperature in the presence of NaOAc. The complex was tested in the TH of acetophenone with 1.5 mol% KOtBu, and excellent yield (95-96%) of 1-phenylethanol was obtained with 1 mol% catalyst in 1 h.^[81]



Scheme 8. Iridacycle as catalyst in the TH of acetophenone.

A similar iridacycle (Scheme **9**) was prepared by Vein and co-workers, by reacting acetophenone oximes with [Cp*IrCl₂]₂ and NaOAc in CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature.^[82] The catalyst could be used for TH of substituted acetophenones with 5 mol% catalyst and 50 °C in 15 h. Various functionalised ketones with nitro, bromo, cyano, ester, and ether groups were reduced to the corresponding alcohols with these functional groups preserved.



Scheme **9**. Oxime-based iridacycles as catalysts for the TH of acetophenones.

In the same year, Djukic et al. reported the catalytic activity of Cr(CO)₃-bound half-sandwich iridacycle (Scheme **10**) in tandem transformation of terminal alkynes into *N*-phenylamines, including hydroamination and hydrosilylation/protodesilylation reactions under mild one-pot conditions.^[83]



Scheme **10**. Hydroamination catalysis by a tricarbonylchromium-bound iridacycle.

Sarkar et al. synthesised an iridacycle (Scheme **11**), which contains triazoles and mesoionic carbene. This iridacycle could catalyse TH of

benzaldehyde and acetophenone to form benzylalcohol in the presence of KOH as base and *i*PrOH as solvent at 100 °C, but the TH of acetophenone was slower under the same conditions.^[84]



Scheme **11**. Hydrogenation of benzaldehyde and acetophenone by an iridacycle.

Albrecht and co-workers synthesised a set of iridacycles (Scheme **12**)^[85] by introducing an N-methyl-1,4-dihydropyridylene substituent on the nitrogen atom. However, in doing so, the proton on the nitrogen atom that plays an important role in the outer sphere mechanism is sacrificed. As a result, these catalysts are much slower than previous iridacycles; however, they were highly active at ambient temperature. Complex **4** showed the best activity for the reduction of a small set of ketones comprising cyclohexanone, aryl-substituted acetophenones, and 2-, 3-, and 4-acetylpryridine with 1 mol% catalyst and isopropanol as reductant and solvent at 82 °C. All substrates could be fully reduced within 1–4 h with refluxing isopropanol.



Scheme **12**. Iridacycles catalysed TH of benzophenone.

A series of iridacycles based on 1-aryl- or 1-benzyl-substituted Nheterocyclic carbenes (NHCs) were synthesized by Choudhoury and coworkers (Scheme **13**).^[86] These complexes could also be used for TH of acetophenone. Among them, complexes **6**, **7**, **9**, **10** showed better activity with 20 mol% KOH at 100 °C for 1.5 h. The catalytic activity of the TH reaction with catalyst **8** was poor due to the strongly electronwithdrawing nature of the nitro group.



Scheme 13. N-aryl and N-benzyl N-heterocyclic carbene-based iridacycles

catalyzed TH of acetophenone.

More recently, Kuwata and co-workers synthesised two new

iridacycles (Scheme **14**)^[87] based on 5-alkyl-3-benzylpyrazoles in 2021. The chlorido complexes presented activity for TH of acetophenone with 2-propanol at 50 °C in 15 h. Experimental results showed that complex **12** is the faster catalyst.



Scheme **14**. TH of acetophenone catalysed by C-N chelate complexes.

Our group also synthesised a family of cyclometalated iridium complexes containing Cp* for TH processes (Scheme **15**).^[79,88] These complexes showed highly efficient and selective TH with a wide range of substrates, such as imines, ketones, and aldehydes. Our studies also identified that the pH value is critical for the TH reactions.^[79]



Scheme **15**. TH of various carbonyl compounds with iridacycle as catalyst.

1.3.2 Rhdacycles catalysed TH reaction

Compared with iridacycle catalysed TH, the application of rhodacycles in TH of carbonyl compounds has been very limited. So, we will focus on recent development of TH of carbonyl compounds with other rhodium catalysts.

The most well-known hydrogenation catalyst is the Wilkinson complex [Rh(PPh₃)₃Cl].^[89,90] Meanwhile, it was also an excellent transfer hydrogenation catalyst with the presence of 2-propanol as the hydrogen source.^[91] Some new complexes were produced based on Wilkinson

complex (Scheme **16**).^[92] This complex provided better activity and more wide substrate scope.



Scheme **16.** TH of ketones with further report of Wilkinson complex.

Aryl and alkyl carbonyls were converted in a hydrogen transfer reaction with good yields to the corresponding alcoholic species in the presence of air-stable [Rh(III)(bis-carbene)I₂(OAc)] complexes (hydrogen transfer of imines to amines was observed as well) (Scheme **17**).^[93] The complex with the iso-propyl function hydrogenated the aliphatic substrates faster than the aromatic ones.



Scheme **17.** TH of ketones with chelating bis-carbene rhodium complexes.

The half-sandwich rhodium complexes are the most extensively used rhodium TH catalysts.^[94-99] An easily accessible Rh(III)(η^5 -Cp*)complex containing a bis-phosphine ligand catalysed TH of substituted acetophenones in 2-PrOH at 82 °C, and 94–99% conversions and 5–50 h⁻¹ TOF values were obtained (Scheme **18**).^[94]



Scheme **18**. TH of ketones with bis-phosphine ligand rhodium complex.

The rhodium complex $[Rh(\eta^5-Cp^*)Cl(\mu-Cl)]_2$ with the ligand 1,2-bis-(phenylthiomethyl) benzene or 1,2-bis(phenylselenomethyl)-benzene (Scheme **19**) in the presence of NH_4PF_6 is the first rhodium catalyst for TH of carbonyls in glycerol, a cheap, nontoxic, biodegradable, and easily available by-product in biodiesel fuel production, obtained from the saponification of triglycerides of all natural fats and oils.^[95]



Scheme **19**. TH of carbonyl compounds with rhodium complex.

In 2011, a series cyclometalated rhodium complexes were synthesised and tested for TH of imines and ketones (Scheme **20**). The reaction was carried out in the presence of HCO_2H/Et_3N and CH_2Cl_2 as solvent more than 90 % yield was obtained.^[97]



Scheme **20**. Rhodacycle catalysed TH of ketone.

Soon Later, Omondi and co-workers reported the synthesis and
characterisation of new amine Rh(III) half-sandwich compounds with the metal centre coordinated to a N,N' chelated ligand (Scheme **21**).^[98] The Ir(III) and Rh(III) amine compounds were compared in the catalytic transfer hydrogenation reaction. The Rh(III) compounds were found to be more versatile than the Ir(III) compounds. The Rh(III) compounds were particularly effective for the catalytic transfer hydrogenation of aromatic carbonyl groups in water with sodium acetate and formic acid as the hydrogen source under pH dependent acidic conditions.



Scheme **21**. TH of aromatic ketones and aldehydes by rhodacycles.

More recently, our group found that cyclometalated rhodium complexes (Scheme **22**) are highly active in the hydrogen transfer reaction of aldehydes to the corresponding alcohol in the presence of methanol as the hydrogen source.^[96,99] More than 35 examples were reported, indicated the wide applicability of the system. Substituted aldehydes were

Chapter 1

converted, with high yields (71–99 %) in methanol as hydrogen donor and solvent. It is worth noting that the TH of aldehydes could be achieved at near room temperature.



Scheme **22**. TH of aldehydes with half-sandwich cyclometalated rhodium complexes.

1.4 Conclusion and aims of the thesis

From the literature review, it is obvious that the catalytic hydrogenation processes play an indispensable role in contemporary synthetic chemistry, pharmaceutical chemistry, and other fields. Recently, a series of new catalytic hydrogenation systems have been created. Due to the application of green chemistry, replacement of the novel metal with abundant metal has gained wide concerning. At the same time, based on the characteristics of heterogeneous catalysts that are easy to separate and recycle, many more studies have been carried out and preliminary results have been obtained. However, due to the excellent performance of novel molecular metal catalysts, homogeneous catalysis is still an important part in the field of catalytic hydrogenation. In this context, research has been focused on the improvement of the ligand and optimizing the catalytic process. Bearing this in mind, the core objective of this thesis was to develop new catalysts for TH of unsaturated compounds with the focus on the rhodium and iridium. In order to put this into practice, a series of ligands and metal complexes have been synthesised and investigated to find the suitable catalytic system where various carbonyl compounds and imines can be reduced to desired hydrogenated products.

As summarised in previous sections, there are limited catalysts and methods for the efficient TH of carbonyl compounds. The need for high catalyst loading and harsh reaction conditions limits the potential for industrial applications. In addition, the use of excessive amount of reducing agents may lead to abundant waste by-products and economic costs. In this context, the use of cheaper and greener hydrogen source like methanol are less explored.

The main aim of this thesis is to develop more efficient and greener methods for TH of carbonyls. Chapter 2 extends the previous study on TH

29

of unsaturated ketones to corresponding alcohols, with high activity and wide substrate scope in the presence of methanol as both solvent and hydrogen donor. Chapter 3 reports a different functional group-based rhodium catalyst for the TH and methylation of unsaturated carbonyl compounds, with methanol as hydrogen and methyl source as well as solvent.

1.5 References

- [1] Jun, T., Chem. Sci. **2021**, 12, 1964-1981.
- [2] Mazza, S.; Scopelliti, R.; Hu, X. Organometallics. 2015, 34, 1538-1545.
- [3] Bata, P.; Notheisz, F.; Kluson, P.; Zsigmond, Á. Appl. Organomet.*Chem.* 2015. 29, 45-49.
- [4] Sues, P. E.; Lough, A. J.; Morris, R. H. Organometallics. 2011, 30, 4418-4431.
- [5] Wienhöfer, G.; Westerhaus, F. A.; Jagadeesh, R. V.; Junge, K.; Junge,
 H.; Beller, M. **2012**, 48, 4827-4829.
- [6] Wienhöfer, G.; Sorribes, I.; Boddien, A.; Westerhaus, F. A.; Junge, K.;
 Junge, H.; Llusar, R.; Beller, M. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* 2011, 133, 12875-12879.
- [7] Zhou, S.; Fleischer, S.; Junge, K.; Das, S.; Addis, D.; Beller, M. Angew.
 Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 8121–8125.
- [8] Hydrogenation: Catalysts and Processes, edited by S. David Jackson,Walter de Gruyter GmbH. 2018. ProQuest Ebook Central.
- [9] Dong W. Chem. Rev. **2015**, 115, 13, 6621–6686.
- [10] Andersson, P. G., Munslow, I. J., *Eds. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA: Weinheim*. **2008.**
- [11] Smil V. *Nature* **1999**. 400, 415.

- [12] Pierre Louis D. and Louis-Jacques T., Ann. Chim, **1823**, pp. 440-444.
- [13] Normann, W., **1903**, *Great Britian Patent* GB190301515.
- [14] Smil V. Enriching the earth: Fritz Haber, Carl Bosch, 2004. Cambridge (MA).
- [15] Mittasch A, Schneider G. *Patent US1201850*. **1916**, to BASF AG. See also *German patents DRP 293787* **1913**.
- [16] Burwell, J.; Robert, L. *Chem. Rev.* **1957**, 57, 895–934.
- [17] Oger, C.; Balas, L.; Durand, T.; Galano, J. Chem. Rev. 2013, 113, 1313–1350.
- [18] Dong W.; D. Astruc, *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, 115, 6621–6686.
- [19] Braude, E. A.; Linstead, R. P. J. Chem. Soc. **1954**, 3544–3547.
- [20] Gottfried B., Terry J. N., *Chem. Rev.* **1974**, 74, 567–580.
- [21] Klomp, D.; Hanefeld, U.; Peters, J.A. Weinheim, Germany. 2007;
 Chapter 20, pp. 585–630, ISBN 978-3-527-31161-3.
- [22] Baird, M.C.; Nyman, C.J.; Wilkinson, G. J. Chem. Soc. A. 1968, 348–
 351.
- [23] Ohno, K.; Tsuji, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1968**, 90, 99–107.
- [24] Enthaler, S. *ChemSusChem* **2008**, 1, 801–804.
- [25] Joo, F. ChemSusChem **2008**, 1, 805–808.
- [26] Enthaler, S.; von Langermann, J.; Schmidt, T. *Energy Environ. Sci.***2010**, 3, 1207–1217.

- [27] Loges, B.; Boddien, A.; Gartner, F.; Junge, H.; Beller, M. *Top. Catal.***2010**, 53, 902–914.
- [28] Johnson, T. C.; Morris, D. J.; Wills, M. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2010, 39, 81–88.
- [29] W. K. Reutemann; H. Kieczka, Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry, *Wiley-VCH*, Weinheim. **2011**.
- [30] Rong X; Wei Q. and George W. H., *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2011, 4, 2193–2205.
- [31] Fangming J. and Heiji E., Energy Environ. *Sci.* **2011**, *4*, 382–397.
- [32] D. J. Fitzpatrick; S. Hayes; M. H. B. Hayes and J. R. H. Ross, *Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.* **2010**, ch. 7, p. 139.
- [33] G. Centi and S. Perathoner, *Catal. Today.* **2009**, 148, 191–205.
- [34] Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy; The FreedomCAR and Fuel Partnership, Targets for Onboard Hydrogen Storage Systems For Light-duty Vehicles, September 2009,
- [35] U. B. Demirci and P. Miele, *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2011**, 4, 3334–3341.
- [36] Loges, B.; Boddien, A.; Gartner, F.; Junge, H.; Beller, M. *Top. Catal.***2010**, 53, 902–914.
- [37] He, T.; Pachfule, P.; Wu, H.; Xu, Q.; Chen, P., *Nat. Rev. Mater.* 2016, 1, 16059.
- [38] Hull, J. F.; Himeda, Y.; Wang, W.-H.; Hashiguchi, B.; Periana, R.;

Szalda, D. J.; Muckerman, J. T.; Fujita, E. *Nat. Chem.* **2012**, 4, 383–388.

- [39] Dalebrook, A. F.; Gan, W.; Grasemann, M.; Moret, S.; Laurenczy, G.*Chem. Commun.* 2013, 49, 8735–8751.
- [40] Moret, S.; Dyson, P. J.; Laurenczy, G. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 4017.
- [41] Emilia. P, Claudia E., Rosario P. and Francesco M., *Catal.Sci.Technol.***2016**, pp. 7937-7941.
- [42] Tianye G.; Qineng X.; Yi S.; Xiaohui L. and Yanqin W., *Appl. Catal.***2017**, pp. 30-36.
- [43] Haoran W.; Jinliang S.; Chao X.; Congyi W.; Chunjun C. and BuxingH., ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2018, pp. 2872-2877.
- [44] Stephen G. B., The Kinetic Theory of Gases: An Anthology of Classic Papers with Historical Commentary. History of Modern Physical Sciences, 2003.
- [45] A report on methanol to the French Academy of Sciences by J.
 Dumas and E. Péligot began during the Academy's meeting of 27
 October 1834.
- [46] Sabatier, P., in Nobel Lectures, Chemistry, Elsevier Publishing, Amsterdam, 1966.
- [47] The Methanol Industry by Methanol Institute, http://www.methanol.org/the-methanol-industry/, accessed Sep

2021.

- [48] Ahmed H. A.; Elliot L. B.; Mark D.; Craig M. R.; Jonathan A. I.; Jianliang X., Chem. Commun. 2018, 54, 11805–11808.
- [49] R. H. Crabtree, *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, 117, 9228–9246.
- [50] Thomas A. S.; Peter M. M.; J. Organomet. Chem. 1985, 289, 385–
 395.
- [51] Nahury C. B.; Marcos F.A.; Juventino J. G., *J. Organometallics.* 2012, 31, 680–686.
- [52] Nielsen, M.; Alberico, E.; Baumann, W.; Drexler, H.-J.; Junge, H.;Gladiali, S.; Beller, M. *Nature*. 2013, 495, 85–89.
- [53] Jesus C.; Liam S. S.; Michael G. M.; Robert H. C., *Inorg. Chem.* 2015, 54, 11, 5079–5084.
- [54] Jun Z.; Jinzhou C., ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. **2017**, 5, 5982–5993.
- [55] Rongzhou W.; Xingyou H.; Jing X.; Peng L.; Feng L.; J. Org. Chem.
 2020, 85, 4, 2242–2249.
- [56] Prades, A.; Corberan, R.; Poyatos, M.; Peris, E. Chem.Eur. J. 2008, 14, 11474–11479.
- [57] Fujita, K.-I.; Enoki, Y.; Yamaguchi, R. *Tetrahedron.* 2008, 64, 1943–1954.
- [58] Blank, B.; Madalska, M.; Kempe, R. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2008, 350, 749–758.

- [59] Blank, B.; Michlik, S.; Kempe, R. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2009, 351, 2903–2911.
- [60] Michlik, S.; Hille, T.; Kempe, R. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2012, 354, 847–862.
- [61] Iomp, D.; Hanefeld, U.; Peters, J.A. WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co.
 KGaA: Weinheim, Germany. 2007; Chapter 20, pp. 585–630, ISBN 978-3-527-31161-3.
- [62] U.K. Singh; M.A. Vannice, *Appl. Catal.* **2001.**
- [63] P. Gallezot; D. Richard, *Catal. Rev. Sci. Eng.* **1998**.
- [64] V. Ponec, Appl. Catal. **1997**.
- [65] P. Kluson; L. Cerveny, *Appl. Catal.* **1995**.
- [66] C. Mohr P. Claus, *Sci. Progress*.**2001**, 31.
- [67] J. March, in *Advanced Organic Chemistry*, **1977**, p. 829.
- [68] S. I. Fukuzawa; T. Fujuami; S. Yamuchi; and S. Sakai, *J. Chem. SOC.*, Perkin Trans. **1986**.
- [69] Sakaguchi, S.; Yamaga, T.; Ishii, Y. J. Org. Chem. **2001**, 66, 4710.
- [70] Otsuka, H.; Shirakawa, E.; Hayashi, T. *Chem. Commun.* **2007**, 1819
- [71] Keinan, E.; Greenspoon, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1986**, 108, 7314.
- [72] Kosal, A. D.; Ashfeld, B. L. *Org. Lett.* **2010**, 12, 44.
- [73] Moisan, L.; Hardouin, C.; Rousseau, B.; Doris, E. *Tetrahedron Lett.***2002**, 43.

- [74] Li, X.; Li, L.; Tang, Y.; Zhong, L.; Cun, L.; Zhu, J.; Liao, J.; Deng, J. J. Org.
 Chem. 2010, 75, 2981.
- [75] Evans, D. A.; Fu, G. C. J. Org. Chem. **1990**, 55, 5679.
- [76] Zheng, G. Z.; Chan, T. H. Organometallics 1996, 14, 70.
- [77] Fujii, A.; Hashiguchi, S.; Uematsu, N.; Ikariya, T.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, 118, 2521.
- [78] Naskar, S.; Bhattacharjee, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2007**, 48, 465.
- [79] C. Wang; J. Xiao, *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, 53, 3399–3411.
- [80] C. Michon, K. MacIntyre, Y. Corre, F. Agbossou-Niedercorn, ChemCatChem. 2016, 8, 1755–1762.
- [81] Arita, S.; Koike, T.; Kayaki, Y.; Ikariya, T. Organometallics. 2008, 27, 2795–2802.
- [82] Watanabe, M.; Kashiwame, Y.; Kuwata, S.; Ikariya, T. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2012, 504–511.
- [83] W. Iali, F. La Paglia, X.-F Le Goff, D. Sredojevic, M. Pfeffer, J.-P. Djukic, *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, 48, 10310–10312.
- [84] R. Maity, S. Hohloch, C.-Y. Su, M. van der Meer, B. Sarkar, *Chem. Eur. J.* **2014**, 20, 9952–9961.
- [85] Navarro, M.; Smith, C.A.; Albrecht, M. Inorg. Chem. 2017, 56, 11688–11701.
- [86] Semwal, S.; Mukkatt, I.; Thenarukandiyil, R.; Choudhury, J. Chem.

Eur. J. **2017**, 23, 13051–13057.

- [87] Kashiwame, Y.; Ikariya, T.; Kuwata, S. *Polyhedron* **2021**, 197, 115036.
- [88] Z. Chen; A. Kacmaz; J. Xiao, *Chem. Rec.* **2021**, 21, 1506–1534.
- [89] Osborn, J. A.; Jardine, F. H.; Young, J. F.; Wilkinson, G. J. Chem. Soc.A 1966, 1711.
- [90] O'Connor, J. M.; Junning, M. J. Org. Chem. **1992**, 57, 5075.
- [91] Klomp, D.; Hanefeld, U.; Peters, J.A. *Weinheim*, Germany, **2007**; Chapter 20, pp. 585–630.
- [92] Pàmies, O.; Bäckvall, J.-E. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 5052–5058.
- [93] Albrecht, M.; Crabtree, R.H.; Mata, J.; Peris, E. Chem. Commun. 2002, 32–33.
- [94] Ok, F.; Aydemir, M.; Durap, F.; Baysal, A. Novel. *Appl. Organomet. Chem.* **2014**, 28, 38–43.
- [95] Prakash, O.; Sharma, K. N.; Joshi, H.; Gupta, P. L.; Singh, A. K. Organometallics 2014, 33, 2535–2543.
- [96] Aboo, A.A.; Bennett, E.L.; Deeprose, M.; Robertson, C.M.; Iggo, J.A.;
 Xiao, J. Chem. Commun. 2018, 54, 11805–11808.
- [97] N. Pannetier; J. Sortais; J. Issenhuth; L. Barloy; C. Sirlin; A. Holuigue;
 L. Lefort; L. Panella; J. G. de Vries and M. Pfeffer, *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2011**, 353, 2844 2852.
- [98] S. Thangavel; H. B. Friedrich; B. Omondi, Journal of Molecular

Catalysis A: Chemical. **2017**, 27–42.

[99] Z. Chen; G. Hong; A. H. Aboo; J. Iggo; J. Xiao; Asian J. Org. Chem.
2020, 9, 1174-1178.

Chapter 2: Chemoselective Reduction of Unsaturated Ketones with Methanol

2.1 Introduction

Reduction of carbonyl compounds to its corresponding alcohols and their derivatives is an important process in organic chemistry, with a number of applications in the fine chemical industry, laboratory, agrochemicals and pharmaceuticals industry.^[1-5] Currently, hydrogenation is the key step in the preparation of ca. 25% of pharmaceutical drugs on the market.^[3]

In the last decades, a number of methods have been reported for the reduction of carbonyl compounds. Among non-catalytic routes, reduction with lithium aluminium hydride (LiAlH₄) and sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) is widely used. Despite broad application of these agents, the reduction achieved is often lack of chemoselectivity (Scheme **1A**).^[6] Among catalytic routes, reduction of carbonyl compounds is often carried out with heterogeneous catalysts using molecular hydrogen as reducing agent.^[7-13] High efficiency in terms of reaction rates is usually achieved with these catalysts, although obvious limitations of this approach include low chemoselectivity and the hazards associated with the use of gaseous hydrogen. In addition, difficulty in the control of the stoichiometry of H₂ often results in substrate over-reduction (Scheme **1B**).

41

A. Reduction of α , β -unsaturated ketone by LiAlH₄ and NaBH₄



B. Hydrogenation of α , β -unsaturated ketone with heterogeneous

catalysts using molecular hydrogen



Scheme **1**. Reduction of α , β -unsaturated ketones.

Transfer hydrogenation (TH) is an attractive approach due to its operative simplicity and high selectivity. It provides a rational alternative for chemoselective reduction of the α , β -unsaturated ketones and other unsaturated compounds.^[14-16] Higher molecular weight alcohols, formic acid and its salts have been described as a great hydrogen source in this method, with the reduction normally catalysed by transition metal complexes.^[17-20]

In the last decade, attention has been given to the catalytic TH with cyclometallated metal complexes as catalyst. Among this, the half-sandwich cyclometallated iridium complexes, *e.g.* [Cp*M(C^X)Cl] (M = Ir; X = C, N, O, P) are a common choice (Scheme **2**). These complexes can be easily prepared via the base promoted C–H activation of an H–C^X species

in the presence of [Cp*IrCl₂]₂ under mild conditions. The prepared halfsandwich cyclometallated complexes have proven useful in hydrogenation, reductive amination, dehydrogenation, oxidation, alkylation, racemization, hydrosilylation, hydroamination, polymerization and related reactions.^[19]



Scheme **2**. Preparation of iridacycles through the cyclometallation of H–C^X ligand.

Recently, our group reported on the preparation and application of a series of iridacycle compounds that showed activity for a range of catalytic processes.^[21-22] Facile preparation of these air and moisture stable complexes makes easy their application in synthetic chemistry (Scheme **3**).



Scheme **3**. Preparation of iridacycles.

In 2018, Aboo of our group^[21] introduced a new rhodacycle complex for the reduction of aldehydes with methanol as both the solvent and the hydrogen donor under mild conditions (Scheme **4**). It is noteworthy that methanol has always been considered as the securest source of hydrogen.^[23] Success of these preliminary studies prompted us for further evaluation of rhodacycle complexes as catalysts in different reactions with methanol as the hydrogen source and solvent.



Scheme **4**. Rhodacycle reported by Aboo.

2.2 Aims of the project

Chemoselective reduction of α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds into allylic alcohols or saturated ketones are of importance to the preparation of fine chemicals, hardening of fats, pharmaceutical manufacturing processes and the synthesis of various organic intermediates and solvents.^[3] Although the research in the area of TH of α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds has been developed for decades, the demand for cheap, efficient, and versatile catalysts is on the increase in both academia and industries.^[14,16,17] Therefore, the main aim of this project is to develop more efficient and greener catalyst is for selective reduction of carbonyl compound using cheaper and abundant hydrogen sources.

Inspired by the success of the synthesised rhodacycle complex in TH of simple aldehydes and double bonds of various substituted conjugated aromatic ketones,^[23] we would like to study it in the TH of both aromatic and aliphatic carbonyl compounds. In addition, we would like to explore these complexes further in the methylation of α , β -unsaturated ketones and other potential applications.

2.3 Result and discussion

2.3.1 Synthesis of rhodacycles

Synthesis of the cyclometallated Rh(III) metal complexes are shown in Scheme **5**. Preparation of imine species (used further as bidentate C, Nligands) was achieved under the conditions described in the literature.^[22] The imine species was derived from *p*-benzophenones and *p*-anilines. The imine species was then combined with the $[Cp*RhCl_2]_2$ dimer in DCM at room temperature.



Scheme 5. Formation of cyclometallated rhodium complexes.

Complexes **1**–**4** were synthesised, and their structures were established using ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR and ESI-mass-spectrometry. On comparison, complexes **1** and **4** are structural isomers, as they have similar imine ligand with only a difference in the position of the hydroxyl and methoxy group. Structures of **1**–**4** are schematically shown in Scheme **6**.

Complexes **1** and **4** were reported previously by other members of our group; complexes **2** and **3** were prepared by me in the similar fashion and were evaluated as potential catalysts for TH of carbonyl compounds.



Scheme 6. Schematic structures of rhodacycle species prepared.

2.3.2 Chemoselective reduction of unsaturated ketones

The reported procedure for the TH reaction of α , β -unsaturated ketone was used to examine the activity of complexes **1**-**4**.^[20] **1**,**3**-diphenyl-2-propenone was selected as a substrate. The substrate was expected to be reduced to the corresponding saturated ketone under these conditions: 1 mol% catalyst, 1 mol% base, 2.5 mL MeOH, at 90 °C for 1 h based on the previous report.^[23] The composition of the reaction mixture was determined by GC-MS. Use of complexes **1**, **2** and **4** led to the chemoselective reduction of C=C double bond to give the expected saturated ketone. For **3**, two different products were obtained: one corresponds to the saturated ketone, while another presumably corresponds to the methylated saturated ketone (M = 224, Scheme 7). The

ratio between the products was ca. 1.4:1 (determined by ¹H NMR).



Scheme **7**. TH of α , β -unsaturated ketone catalysed by Rh complex **3**.

4-Phenyl-3-buten-2-one was also screened under the same conditions with rather similar outcome (Table 1). Product yields were determined by ¹H NMR and composition of the reaction mixture was also confirmed by GC-MS. Among 1–4, only catalyst 4 led to the selective reaction of the C=C bond in the vinylic α , β -unsaturated ketone without subsequent methylation of the saturated ketone formed (Table 1, entry 4). The reason for this difference of the product is probably due to the presence of a hydroxyl group in the catalyst.

	catalyst 4 base, MeOH, 90 °C		+
entry ^a	catalyst	A yield (%)	[₿] B yield (%) ^b
1	1	90	10

Table **1**. Hydrogenation of α , β -unsaturated ketone.

2	2	82	18
3	3	50	50
4	4	100	none

^a Reaction conditions: 1 mol% catalyst, 0.25 mmol substrate, 0.5 equiv. of base, 1.5 mL MeOH, stirring at 90 °C for 1 h.

^b The yield was determined by NMR.

Inspection of the data above suggests that complex **4** shows excellent chemoselectivity in the reduction of carbonyl compounds to saturated ketones without any side products formed. The substrate scope of the reactions was subsequently extended to aromatic compounds with electron donating and withdraw groups and aliphatic species (Table **2**). Among them, entry 4-8 and 10-11 were finished **by my collaborator** Aboo. In the previous work of our group, the catalytic activity of this rhodacycle for the TH of saturated ketones was observed. In the current study, I extended the application of the catalyst to more aromatic ketones, styryl methyl ketones and aliphatic methyl vinyl ketones with different functional group. For the chalcones, both electron-donating and withdrawing substituents on the styryl side are tolerated (Table **2**, entry 1-

8). It is worth noting that chalcones having 2-sustituted or 2,6disubstituted styryl units were all reduced with high yields (Table 2, entry 5), considering that the hydride addition would take place at the β position of the C=C double bond. The rhodacycle 4 catalysed reduction with MeOH also works for styryl methyl ketones (Table 2, entry 9-12). Again, the transfer hydrogenation is highly chemoselective, only affording the saturated ketones, and the reduction tolerates both electron-donating and withdrawing substituents on the styryl side (Table 2, entry 11) and substrates bearing 2,6-disubstituted styryl units are equally viable (Table 2, entry 10).

We also examined the reduction of aliphatic methyl vinyl ketones with **4** in MeOH. As can be seen below, these ketones including examples of cyclohexenone and cycloheptenone were also reduced, affording the corresponding saturated ketones in high yields (Table **2**, entry 13, 14, 16-19, 21, 22). Notably, α -disubstituted methyl vinyl ketone was reduced with no difficulty (Table **2**. entry 13). However, reduction of the substrates with non-conjugated C=C bonds was proven to be more difficult; there was no expected product formation (Table **2**, entry 15,20). The products yield of the reaction mixture was determined by isolation and/or GC.

50

Entry ^a	substrate	product	Yield (%) ^b
1		° C	90
2			91
3			95°
4	O OH	O OH	86
5			95
6			90
7	CI	CI	94
8			97
9	O C		86 ^b

Table 2. Hydrogenation of carbonyl compounds with complex 4.

Chapter 2

10	F O Cl	F O CI	85
11	CI	CI	83
12			83 ^b
13	O C		98 ^c
14	O L	O L	50 ^c
15	, o l	N/A	N/A ^d
16	O U	°	99 ^c
17	→		94 ^c
18			30 ^c
19	0 L	0 L	97 ^c
20	S → → →	N/A	N/A ^d



^a Reaction Conditions: 1 mol% catalyst **4**, 0.25 mmol substrate, 0.5 equiv.

of base, 1.5 mL MeOH, stirring at 90 $^\circ C$ for 1 h.

^b The yield was calculated using isolated product.

^c The yield was determined by GC or GC-MS.

^d No reaction.

To prove that the methanol is the only hydrogen source during the TH, the reduction of a model ketone in deuterated methanol (CD₃OD) was carried out. As shown in Scheme **9**, deuterium was found at both α and β position.



Scheme **9**. TH of α , β -unsaturated ketone with deuterated methanol.

2.4 Proposed Mechanism



Scheme **10.** A possible catalytic cycle for the rhodacycle **4** catalysed selective transfer hydrogenation of unsaturated ketones with MeOH.

On the basis of our group's previous study,^[21] a plausible reaction mechanism for the **4** catalysed chemoselective reduction of unsaturated ketones with methanol is proposed in Scheme **10**. Under the basic reaction conditions employed, the alkoxide complex **A** is formed from the rhodacycle **4** in MeOH. Then the complex **A** undergoes β -hydrogen elimination, giving rise to the hydride complex **B** while releasing formaldehyde, support for which was provided in our study of reduction of aldehydes with methanol.^[21] The next step sees the hydride in complex **B** being transferred to the β -position of the C=C double bond, affording the species **D**. The hydride transfer may proceed via an intermediate **C**, in which the ligand hydroxyl group hydrogen-bonds with the ketone oxygen, rendering the C=C bond more electrophilic and thereby facilitating the hydride transfer. Such ligand-facilitated reduction has been well documented; however, the ligand-substrate interaction is usually confined to a smaller ring.^[26,27] Finally, protonation of **D** with MeOH affords the saturated ketone while regenerating **A**.

2.5 Conclusion

Several rhodacycles have been synthesised and tested in transfer hydrogenation reactions. Rhodium complexes **1–4** were first used for reduction of an α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compound and complex **3** was found to give reduction/methylation product. In particulars, the rhodacycle **4** showed excellent chemselective transfer hydrogenation of α,β -unsaturated ketones under mild conditions in the presence of methanol as both a hydrogen donor and solvent. Only 1 mol% catalyst loading was applied during the reaction system. A variety of chalcones as substrates were hydrogenated into corresponding saturated ketones by the catalyst. The process could also be applied to the aliphatic unsaturated ketones, but only a limited number of substrates were hydrogenated. The use of cheap, commercially available, green, and environmentally friendly methanol in this reaction reminds us that methanol could be a good alternative to other commonly used hydrogen sources, such as *i*PrOH and HCOOH.

2.6 Experimental

2.6.1 General information

All reactions were carried out with oven-dried glassware using standard Schlenk techniques under an inert atmosphere of dry argon. Chemicals, reagents and solvents were purchased commercially and used as received. Methanol was of HPLC grade. TLC silica gel 60F254 (Merck) plates were used for the analytical thin-layer chromatography and they were revealed under ultra-violet irradiation, potassium permanganate or iodine. Columns were run using a mixture of hexane/ethyl acetate and silica gel 60 Å (230-400 mesh). ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Brucker 400 MHz spectrometer using CDCl₃ as solvent with TMS as the internal standard at 25 °C. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were calibrated against the residual solvent signal at the corresponding central peak (¹H: CDCl₃ 7.26 ppm; ¹³C: CDCl₃ 77.16 ppm). Chemical shift (δ) and coupling constants

(J) are given in ppm and in Hz, respectively.

Synthware[®] pressure tubes with front seal (25 mL) were used for the reaction.

Where appropriate analysis of reaction mixtures was undertaken on an Agilent 6890N/7890A gas chromatographic system equipped with a split/splitness injector and flame ionization detector. HP-5 capillary GC column ($30m \times 0.25mm i.d.$) and helium as gas carrier were routinely used. Inject temperature 250 °C; detector temperature 300 °C; inlet pressure 15 psi; initial oven temperature 50 °C for 2 min, then ramp up to 300 °C (20 °C/min), and 15 mins hold at 300 °C.

Substrates (chalcones) were prepared by aldol condensation according to the literature method.^[24]

The rhodium complexes were prepared using the published procedures.^[21]

2.6.2 General procedure for the imine ligand preparation

Imine ligands were prepared based on our previous work.^[21] In a 250 mL round bottomed flask, ketone (5.0 mmol), amine (5.5 mmol) and NaHCO₃ (420 mg, 5 mmol) were dissolved in toluene (80 mL), and 4 Å

57

molecular sieves (1.2 g) were introduced. The resulting mixture was fitted with a Dean-Stark condenser and heated to reflux for 24 h. After completion, solid residues were removed, followed by removal of solvent in vacuo. The imine ligand was obtained from crystallization by using DCM/hexane.

2.6.3 General procedure for the rhodium complexes preparation

In a 50 mL round bottomed flask, [Cp*RhCl₂]₂ dimer (100 mg, 0.16 mmol) (Cp* = pentamethylcyclopentadiene), imine ligand (2.2 eq.) and sodium acetate (10 eq.) were dissolved in DCM (10 mL). Then the reaction mixture was stirred overnight under a nitrogen atmosphere at room temperature. The resulting mixture was then filtered to remove insoluble materials, dried over MgSO₄, and filtered, and the solvent was removed in vacuo. The crude solid product was then washed with diethyl ether/hexane to afford an air and moisture stable pure compound.

2.6.4 General procedures for TH of ketones

A Radleys tube was charged with an unsaturated ketone (0.3 mmol), catalyst (0.003 mmol) and K_2CO_3 (0.25 equiv.). MeOH (1.5 mL) was introduced, and then the reaction mixture was heated to reflux at 90 °C for 1 h. After cooling to room temperature, the solvent was evaporated

under vacuum and flash column chromatography using a hexane/ethyl acetate mixture was carried out to purify the product.

2.6.5 Analytic data of isolated products



Rhodium complex 1:^{[21] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz,298K) δ (ppm): 7.26 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.20 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.94 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.42 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 2.24 (s, 3H), 1.38 (s, 15H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ (ppm): 185.32, 178.25, 157.97, 157.43, 143.66, 140.19, 129.11, 124.36, 122.98, 110.53, 99.99, 96.08, 96.01, 55.52, 17.02, 8.76; HRMS for C₂₅H₂₉RhNO₂ [M-Cl]⁺ : m/z calc.: 478.1236; found 478.1232.

Due to the fluxionality, two of the aromatic hydrogens in complex **1** appeared very broad and featureless at r.t. A better resolved spectrum was obtained in CD₂Cl₂ at a lower temperature (- 60 °C). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.47 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (s, 2H), 6.92 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 6.64 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 3.95 (s, 3H), 2.29 (s, 3H), 1.41 (s, 15H). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 213 K) δ (ppm): 7.65 (s, 1H), 7.41 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (s, 1H), 7.18 (s, 1H), 6.94 (s, 1H), 6.72 (s, 2H), 6.58 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 2.22 (s, 3H), 1.33 (s, 15H).



Rhodium complex 2:^[21] ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz,298K) δ7.41 (dd, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 4H), 7.29 – 7.04 (m, 1H), 6.59 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 3.92 (s, 3H), 2.28 (s, 3H), 1.38 (s, 15H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 101 MHz,) δ 125.90, 120.72, 108.52, 96.12, 96.06, 77.33, 77.01, 76.70, 55.14, 8.71, HRMS for C₂₅H₂₉ClRhNO [M + Na]⁺: m/z calc.: 520.6232; found: 520.6263.

Due to the fluxionality, two of the aromatic hydrogens in complex **2** appeared very broad and featureless at r.t. A better resolved spectrum was obtained in CD₂Cl₂ at a lower temperature (- 60 °C). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.52 – 7.45 (m, 3H), 7.37 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 7.28 (t, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 6.65 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 3.96 (s, 3H), 2.30 (s, 3H), 1.39 (s, 15H).¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 213 K) δ (ppm): 7.83 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (dd, *J* = 13.3, 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.33 – 7.21 (m, 2H), 6.91 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 6.61 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 2.28 (s, 3H), 1.31 (s, 15H).



Rhodium complex 3:^[21] 1H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298K) δ (ppm): 7.41 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (d, J = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.93 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 6.58 (dd, J = 8.5, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 3.91 (s, 3H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 2.27 (s, 3H), 1.39 (s, 15H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ (ppm): 182.38, 182.06, 178.06, 157.38, 156.64, 143.75, 140.18, 130.39, 124.45, 122.37, 118.21, 95.91, 95.85, 55.54, 53.42, 17.03, 15.69, 8.79; HRMS for C₂₆H₃₁ClRhNO₂Na [M + Na]⁺ : m/z calc.: 550.0996; found 550.0988.

Due to the fluxionality, two of the aromatic hydrogens in complex **3** appeared very broad and featureless at r.t. A better resolved spectrum was obtained in CD₂Cl₂ at a lower temperature (- 60 °C). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.47 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.36 (d, *J* = 2.4 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 2H), 6.64 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 3.95 (s, 3H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 2.29 (s, 3H), 1.41 (s, 15H). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 213 K) δ (ppm):7.79 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.45 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.28 (s, 1H), 7.01 (s, 1H), 6.87 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 6.60 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 2.26 (s, 3H), 1.33 (s, 15H).



Rhodium complex 4:^{[21] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz,298K) δ (ppm): 7.26 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.20 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.94 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.42 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 2.24 (s, 3H), 1.38 (s, 15H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz) δ (ppm): 185.32, 178.25, 157.97, 157.43, 143.66, 140.19, 129.11, 124.36, 122.98, 110.53, 99.99, 96.08, 96.01, 55.52, 17.02, 8.76; HRMS for $C_{25}H_{29}RhNO_2$ [M-Cl]⁺ : m/z calc: 478.1248; found 478.1255.

Due to the fluxionality, two of the aromatic hydrogens in complex **1** appeared very broad and featureless at r.t. A better resolved spectrum was obtained in CD₂Cl₂ at a lower temperature (- 60 °C). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.34 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.22 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 2H), 6.47 (dd, *J* = 8.3, 2.4 Hz, 1H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 2.27 (s, 3H), 1.40 (s, 15H).¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz, 213 K) δ (ppm): 7.77 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (s, 1H), 7.21 – 7.07 (m, 2H), 7.02 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 6.86 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 2H), 6.26 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 2.22 (s, 3H), 1.32 (s, 15H).



1,3-Diphenylpropan-1-one:^{[28] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.96 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.55 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.45 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.31-7.28 (m, 2H), 7.25-7.18 (m, 3H), 3.30 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.07 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 199.23, 141.30, 136.87, 133.06, 128.5, 128.61, 128.53, 128.43, 128.04, 126.14, 40.45, 30.14; HRMS for C₁₅H₁₅O [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 211.1117; found: 211.1126.


3-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-1-phenyl-1-propanone:^[28] ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): δ 7.95 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 7.54 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 6.84 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.26 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.01 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 199.4, 158.0, 136.92, 133.33, 133.03, 129.36, 128.6, 128.05, 113.95, 55.28, 40.71, 29.29.; HRMS for C₁₆H₁₇O₂ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 241.1223; found: 241.1225.



1,3-Bis(4-methoxyphenyl)-1-propanone:^{[28] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): δ 7.93 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 6.92 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 2H), 6.84 (d, *J* = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 3.21 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.99 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 197.99, 163.44, 157.97, 133.49, 130.31, 130.02, 129.35, 113.92, 113.72, 55.46, 55.27, 40.37, 29.49; HRMS for C₁₇H₁₉O₃ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 271.1329; found: 271.1335.



1-(2-Hydroxyphenyl)-3-phenyl-1-propanone:^{[28] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 12.29 (s, 1H, 1H), 7.74 (dd, *J* = 8.1, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.45-7.43 (m, 1H), 7.32-7.28 (m, 2H), 7.25-7.21 (m, 3H), 6.98 (dd, *J* = 8.3, 0.88 Hz, 1H), 6.87 (td, *J* = 8.0, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 3.32 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 3.00 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 205.39, 162.49, 140.73, 136.36, 129.83, 128.62, 128.40, 126.33, 119.29, 118.93, 118.58, 40.05, 30.04; HRMS for C₁₅H₁₅O₂ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 227.1067; found: 227.1076.



3-(2-Bromophenyl)-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-1-propanone:^[28] ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.54 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.49-7.48 (m, 1H), 7.34 (t, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.30-7.27 (m, 2H), 7.09 (d, *J* = 8.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 6.71 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.79 (s, 3H), 3.21 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.99 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 199.21, 159.84, 156.66, 138.23, 132.78, 131.88, 130.06, 129.54, 120.70, 119.45, 112.62, 112.38, 111.92, 55.45, 38.64, 25.38; HRMS for C₁₇H₁₈BrO₃ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 349.0434; found: 349.0443.



3-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-1-(naphthalen-2-yl)propan-1-one:^[28] ¹H NMR

(CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 8.43 (s, 1H), 8.02 (d, J = 8.6, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.92 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.85 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.59-7.50 (m, 2H), 7.20 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 6.85 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 3.39 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 3.06 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 199.33, 158.05, 135.58, 134.25, 133.39, 132.54, 129.7, 129.56, 129.41, 128.45, 128.43, 127.78, 126.77, 123.87, 113.99, 55.29, 40.83, 29.45; HRMS for C₂₀H₁₉O₂ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 291.138; found: 291.1392.



3-(3-Chlorophenyl)-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)propan-1-one:^[28] ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.92 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 2H), 7.25-7.11 (m, 4H), 6.91 (d, J= 8.8 Hz, 2H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.22 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 3.02 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 197.24, 163.54, 143.55, 134.19, 130.29, 129.83, 129.75, 128.57, 126.72, 126.28, 113.78, 55.47, 39.63, 29.85; HRMS for C₁₆H₁₆ClO₂ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 275.0833; found: 275.0836.



Methyl 4-(3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-3-oxopropyl)benzoate:^[28] ¹H NMR

(CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.96 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.93 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 2H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 6.92 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.26 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 3.10 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 197.24, 167.04, 163.55, 147.00, 130.28, 129.84, 128.49, 128.09, 113.77, 55.47, 52.00, 39.44, 30.21; HRMS for C₁₉H₁₈O₄ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 299.1278; found: 299.1283.



4-Phenylbutan-2-one:^{[28] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.30-7.28 (m, 2H), 7.21-7.17 (m, 3H), 2.90 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.76 (t, *J* = 7.62 Hz, 2H), 2.14 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 208.00, 140.98, 128.50 and 128.28, 126.11, 45.18, 30.07 and 29.74; HRMS for C₁₀H₁₃O [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 149.0961; found: 149.0962.



4-(2-Chloro-6-fluorophenyl)butan-2-one:^[28] ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.16-7.09 (m, 2H), 6.95 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 3.04 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 2.70 (t, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 2H), 2.18 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 207.19, 161.34 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 245.87 Hz), 135.04 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 6.13 Hz), 127.91 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 4.6 Hz), 126.73 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 22.55 Hz), 125.22 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 3.83

Hz), 113.94 (d, J_{C-F} = 22.9 Hz), 42.22, 29.72, 20.75 (d, J_{C-F} = 3.06 Hz); HRMS for C₁₀H₁₁ CIFO [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 201.0477; found: 201.0483.



4-(2,4-Dichlorophenyl)butan-2-one:^[28] ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.35 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.19-7.14 (m, 2H), 2.96 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 2.74 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.14 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 207.16, 137.18, 134.47, 132.62, 131.49, 129.27, 127.15, 42.90, 29.97, 27.16; HRMS for C₁₀H₁₁Cl₂O [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 217.0181; found: 217.0188.



4-(4-Methoxyphenyl)butan-2-one:^{[28] 1}H NMR (CDCI3, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.10 (d, *J* = 8.11 Hz, 2H), 6.82 (d, *J* = 8.13 Hz, 2H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 2.84 (t, *J* = 7.45 Hz, 2H), 2.72 (t, *J* = 7.46 Hz, 2H), 2.13 (s, 3H), ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 208.15, 157.96, 133.01, 129.21, 113.91, 55.25, 45.45, 30.10 and 28.91; HRMS for C₁₁H₁₅O₂ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 179.1067; found: 179.1071.

2.6.6 NMR spectrum















Chapter 2



Chapter 2





















Chapter 2





Chapter 2















2.6.7 GC traces

Analysis of reaction mixtures was undertaken on an Agilent 6890N/7890A gas chromatographic system equipped with a split/splitness injector and flame ionization detector. HP-5 capillary GC column (30m x 0.25mm i.d.) and helium as gas carrier were routinely used. Injector temperature was 250 °C; detector temperature was 300 °C; inlet pressure was 15 psi; oven temperature program: 50 °C for 2 min, then ramp up to 300 °C (20 °C/ min), and 15 mins hold at 300 °C.

Quantitative dodecane was used as internal standard, Chromatographic analysis was performed on the mixture of measured components and internal standard samples with a certain ratio, peak area was measured, and the curve of the relationship between concentration ratio and peak area ratio was made to obtain the calibration curve. The peak areas of the tested substance and internal standard substance were obtained through experiments, and then used in linear correlation formula, the concentrations of the tested substance in the mixture could be obtained respectively. And then the yield of the reactant was obtained.

4-Methylpentan-2-one

According to the general procedure, a volatile oil was obtained (98% yield by GC analysis).



Cyclohexanone

According to the general procedure, a volatile oil was obtained (99% by GC analysis).



5-Methylhexan-2-one

According to the general procedure, a volatile oil was obtained (94% by GC analysis).



Pentan-2-one

According to the general procedure, a volatile oil was obtained (97% by GC analysis).



Hexan-3-one

According to the general procedure, a volatile oil was obtained (97% by GC analysis).



Cycloheptanone

According to the general procedure, a volatile oil was obtained (99% by GC analysis).



2.7 References

- [1] H.B. Ji and Y.B. She, *China Petrochemical Press*. Beijing, **2005**.
- [2] K. Yan; G. Wu; T. Lafleur and C. Jarvis, *Renewable Sustainable Energy. Rev.* **2014**, 38, 663–676.
- [3] H. U. Blaser; C.Malan; B. Pugin; F. Spindler; H. Steiner and M. Studer, *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2003, 345, 103–151.
- [4] H.-U. Blaser; A. Indolese; A. Schnyder; H. Steiner and M. Studer, J.Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 173, 3–18.
- [5] J. G. V. Alsten; M. L. Jorgensen and D. J. am Ende, *Org. Process Res. Dev.*, **2009**, 13, 629–633.
- [6] D. Setamdideh and S. Ghahremani, S. Afr. J. Chem. 2012, 65, 91–97.
- [7] Á. Molnár; A. Sárkány; M. Varga, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 173, 185-221.
- [8] Y. Zhu; H. Qian; B. A. Drake; R. Jin, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2010, 122, 1317-1320.
- [9] J. Mendes-Burak; B. Ghaffari and C. Cope'ret, *Chem. Commun.* 2019, 55, 179.
- [10] H. Wang; S. Bai; Y. Pi; Q. Shao; Y. Tan and X. Huang, ACS Catal. 2019,
 9, 154–159.
- [11] Gombos, R.; Nagyházi; B. & Joó; F. Reac Kinet Mech *Cat.* **2018**.
- [12] T. Chen; Z. Shi; G. Zhang; H.Chan; Y. Shu; Q. Gao and Yi Tang, ACS

Applied Materials& Interfaces. 2018.

- [13] Ikariya and A. J. Blacker, *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2007**, 40, 1300–1308.
- [14] S. Gladiali; E. Alberico, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2006**, 35, 226-236.
- [15] D. Talwar; H. Y. Li; E. Durham; J. Xiao, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, 21, 5370-5379.
- [16] B. Ding; Z. Zhang; Y. Liu; M. Sugiya; T. Imamoto; W. Zhang, Org. Lett.2013, 15, 3690-3693.
- [17] S.-J. Chen; G.-P. Lu; C. Cai, *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 13208-13211.
- [18] D. Talwar; X. Wu; O. Saidi; N. P. Salguero; J. Xiao, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2014, 20, 12835-12842.
- [19] C. Bianchini; M. Peruzzini; E. Farnetti; J. Kašpar; M. Graziani, *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1995**, 488, 91-97.
- [20] C. Wang and J. Xiao, Chem. Commun. **2017**, 53, 3399.
- [21] A. H. Aboo; E. L. Bennett; M. Deeprose; C. M. Robertson; J. A. Iggo and J Xiao Chem. Commun. 2018, 54, 11805.
- [22] E. migiera; J. Kijen´ski; O. Osawaru; A. Zgudka and A. R. Migdał, Chemik. 2013, 67, 502–513.
- [23] A. Bruneau-Voisine; L. Pallova; S. Bastin; V. César and J.-B. Sortais, Chem. Commun. 2019, 314–317.
- [24] H. Suwito; Jumina; Mustofa; P. Pudjiastuti; M. Z. Fanani; Y. Kimata-Ariga; R. Katahira; T. Kawakami; T. Fujiwara; T. Hase; H. M. Sirat and

N. N. T. Puspaningsih, Molecules. **2014**, 19, 21473–21488.

- [25] C. Wang; H. Y. T. Chen; J. Bacsa; C. R. A. Catlow and J. Xiao, *Dalt. Trans.*, 2013, 42, 935.
- [26] G. Zhou, A. H. Aboo, C. M. Robertson, R. Liu, Z. Li, K. Luzyanin, N. G.Berry, W. Chen, J. Xiao, ACS Catal., 2018, 8, 8020–8026.
- [27] T. Ikariya, K. Murata and R. Noyori, Org. Biomol. Chem., 2006, 4, 393–406.
- [28] A. Aboo; R. Begum; L. Zhao; J. Xiao, *Chinese Journal of Catalysis*, Volume 40, Issue 11, November **2019**.

Chapter 3: Methanol as Both Hydrogen and α-Alkylation Source: Hydrogenation and Methylation of α,β-Unsaturated Ketones
3.1 Introduction

The selective hydrogenation of α , β -unsaturated ketones to produce their corresponding saturated ketones is of great significance for laboratory practice and the production of various valuable chemicals. This hydrogenated ketone has potential application value in the synthesis of food sweeteners, flavours, perfume products, pharmaceuticals and innovative functional materials.^[1-3] However, mixtures of products are regularly gained, as various catalysts reduce both the C=O and C=C bonds, rather than exclusively either the C=O or C=C bond (Scheme 1).^[4-9] In particular, it has been difficult to reach overall chemoselective reduction of the carbon-carbon double bonds in the attendance of other simply reducible groups like C=O, although hydrogenation of a C=C double bond is normally thermodynamically more favourable compared with that of a C=O bond.^[6-9] Although completely selective hydrogenation of carbonyl groups of α , β -unsaturated ketones has been well-developed with homogeneous catalysis,^[10,11] the reduction of the olefinic group of unsaturated ketones is often carried out with heterogeneous catalysis with molecular hydrogen as reducing agent.^[12-14] This is related with such issues as low chemoselectivity and the hazard of hydrogen gas, in addition to the requirement of specialized laboratory equipment.

99



Scheme **1.** General pathway for hydrogenation of unsaturated carbonyl compounds.

The α -methylated ketones are often encountered in biologically active molecules.^[15] The α -alkylation of ketone is usually carried out by the reaction of corresponding enolates with halides, thus producing stoichiometric amount of waste. In the perspective of sustainable chemistry, a new strategy of introducing methyl groups under catalytic conditions in an atomic-economical way from renewable resources is indeed very desirable.^[16,17]

The methylation of ketones with alcohols in the presence of homogeneous catalysts based on novel metals is well established, which includes Ru, Rh, Ir, and Re.^[18-22] The α -methylation with methanol remains challenging with the step of methanol dehydrogenation into aldehyde presents a higher activation barrier than that of heavier alcohols.^[23,24]

100

In 2003, Ishill and co-workers^[20] found that the selective α -alkylation with alcohols was achieved under the influence of catalytical amount of [Ir(cod)Cl]₂ in the presence of a base, such as KOH, which gave α alkylation products in high yield (Scheme **2**). This method provided a novel route to α -alkylation ketones from ketones and alcohols without formation of any waste.



Scheme **2.** Methylation of ketones with alcohols catalysed by [Ir(cod)Cl]₂.

In 2016, an efficient ruthenium catalyst was reported by Seayad and co-workers (Scheme **3**),^[21] which used for methylation of various ketones, nitrile, and esters in the presence of LiO*t*Bu as base. It is worth noting that mono- or multi-methylation could be effectively controlled by temperature.



Scheme **3**. Ru-catalysed α -alkylation of ketone, nitrile and ester.

In 2017, Beller^[22] and co-workers reported a rhenium pincer catalyst for α -alkylation of acetophenone with benzyl alcohol (Scheme **4**). These transformations take place in good to moderate yield in the presence of a very low amount of base.



Scheme **4.** Rhenium-catalysed α -alkylation of acetophenone with benzyl alcohol.

With these catalysts, however high temperatures (120-180 °C) are generally necessary to drive the hydrogenation and methylation. For instance, using MeOH as the hydrogen donor, Garcia and co-workers reported the reduction of α , β -unsaturated dienones into the corresponding saturated ketones with a nickel catalyst [Ni(dippe)(μ -H)]₂ at 180 °C (Scheme **5**).^[25]



Scheme **5**. Catalytical hydrogenation and methylation by Ni complex.

 α -Methylation with methanol was also reported by Antoine Bruneau-Voisine using a Mn complex as catalyst (Scheme **6**). The reaction proceeded with 3 mol% catalyst in the presence of NaO*t*Bu as base at 120 °C for 20 h.^[26]



Scheme **6**. Catalytical methylation of ketones and esters by Mn complex.

More recently, an iridium complex bearing 2hydroxypridylmethylene fragment was synthesised by Deng and coworkers (Scheme **7**), which was used for methylation of amines and ketones with methanol as both C donor and solvent.^[27]



Scheme **7**. Iridium complex catalysed methylation of amines and ketones.

In 2018, Aboo^[28] of our group introduced a new rhodacycle complex 4 for the reduction of aldehydes with methanol as both the solvent and the hydrogen donor under mild conditions (Scheme **8**). It is noteworthy that methanol has always been considered as the safest source of hydrogen.^[29] Success of these preliminary studies prompted us for further evaluation of rhodacycle complexes as catalysts in different reactions with methanol as the hydrogen source and solvent.^[30] Compared with previous report, milder reaction condition and lower catalyst loading were introduced in my research. And also, the catalyst could be prepared in an easier way.



Scheme 8. Rhodacycles and iridacycles studied in this chapter.

3.2 Results and discussion

The implementation of an efficient system based on a rhodium complex would constitute an additional accomplishment as simultaneous hydrogenation and methylation of ketones in a reaction system could be achieved. Complementarily, industrial-scale production of methanol from a wide range of sources, including renewable resources, provides a very attractive C1 source and hydrogen source, which can be used as an environmentally friendly, inexpensive, and abundant alkylate.^[31-34]

The condition for the optimization of the catalysts was adopted from previous research. We chose TH of 1,3-diphenyl-1-propen-3-one with methanol as the model reaction, in the presence of 1 mol% catalyst (complex 1-6) and K₂CO₃ as base stirring in 90 °C for 1 h (Scheme 9, table 1). Compared with previous report from Aboo^[31] the catalyst with OH group on the ligand could achieve TH of unsaturated ketones to its corresponding saturated ketones, but the catalyst could not obtain methylation product. During the catalytical process with catalyst 3, the functional group OH is not needed in the reaction. This suggests that the presence of hydroxyl groups may inhibit the formation of methylation products. From entry 1 and 4, there was no target product **B** generated. Compared with entry 2 and 3, catalyst 3 showed better activities for the methylation product. Meanwhile, the iridium complexes show lower activity for the TH reaction. Hence, the complex **3** has the best catalytic activity for product B under current reaction condition. From entry 7-9, increasing the reaction temperature has positive consequence of methylation product until 120 °C. The methylated product was identified

106

by NMR. Compared with the NMR of pure hydrogenated product, a doublet peak was found in high field which is CH_3 , and a multiplit peak replaced the triplet peak in high field which is H in α position. Thus, the new product could be identified as a methylated product. Later, serials of reactions were carried out based on the results.



Scheme **9**. Hydrogenation of unsaturated ketone with MeOH. Table **1**. Optimization of the catalysts for the hydrogenation of model substrate.

Entry	Catalyst	Base	Temperature °C	Conv. (%)	Yield (con. 9 A	ls %)ª B
1	1	K ₂ CO ₃	90	60	90	0
2	2	K ₂ CO ₃	90	100	70	30
3	3	K ₂ CO ₃	90	100	50	50
4	4	K ₂ CO ₃	90	100	90	0
5	5	K ₂ CO ₃	90	20	20	0
6	6	K ₂ CO ₃	90	20	20	0
7	3	K ₂ CO ₃	90	100	50	50

8	3	K ₂ CO ₃	120	100	10	70
9	3	K ₂ CO ₃	150	100	10	70

Reaction conditions: Under nitrogen atmosphere, ketone (0.25 mmol), MeOH (2 mL), rhodium complex (0.5 mol%), base (0.125 mmol), stirred at 90 °C for 1 h. ^a Isolated Yields.

Further optimization of the reaction conditions was carried out considering the hydrogenation and methylation of 1,3-diphenyl-1-propen-3-one with methanol as the model reaction with the rhodacycle 3 as catalyst (Table 2). Following the literature of the related rhodacycles, the chemoselectivity of the reduction of α , β -unsaturated ketones with formic acid in water was poor.^[35] Pleasingly, using the conditions established for the transfer hydrogenation of aldehydes,^[28] the substrate was completely reduced with MeOH in 1 h at 90 °C in the attendance of 1 mol% of 3 and K₂CO₃, but only small amount of methylation product being observed. It is worth noting that both hydrogenation and methylation could be completed in this single reaction system. Replacing the week base K₂CO₃ with the stronger KOtBu and NaOtBu increased the yield of methylation product under the conditions used. However, the yield of the reaction did not reach our expectation. Later, we tried to enhance the yield by increasing the reaction temperature from 90 °C to 120 °C. In the presence of 0.5 mol% catalyst and KOtBu (0.125 mmol) at 120 °C for 4 h, the best yield of methylation product was obtained.

The catalyst loading could be decreased from 1 mmol% to 0.25 mmol% while maintaining high conversion and yield (Table **2**, entry 5), but longer reaction time was required for full conversion. Further lowering the catalyst loading to 0.1 mmol% had a detrimental effect on conversion and yield of methylation product (Table **2**, entry 6).

Finally, after comprehensive consideration, our subsequent study of the methylation scope was therefore based on using **3** (0.5 mol%) as catalyst, KO*t*Bu (0.5 equipment) as base, and MeOH (2 mL) as both the reductant and solvent at 120 °C in 4 h.

Table **2.** Optimization of the parameters of the hydrogenation of model substrate with catalyst **3**.

		catalyst 3 , base MeOH		В	o	
Entry	Catalyst loading (%)	Base	Temperature, time (h, °C)	Conv. (%)	Yie A	lds ^a
1	1	K ₂ CO ₃	1, 90	100	50	50
2	1	NaO <i>t</i> Bu	1, 90	100	30	70

3	0.5	NaO <i>t</i> Bu	1, 120	100	25	75
4	0.5	KO <i>t</i> Bu	4, 120	100	8	92
5	0.25	KO <i>t</i> Bu	8, 120	100	12	88
6	0.1	KO <i>t</i> Bu	24, 120	20	20	trace

Reaction conditions: Under nitrogen atmosphere, ketone (0.25 mmol), MeOH (2 mL), rhodium complex, base (0.125 mmol), stirred at 90 °C for 4 h. ^a Yield determined by ¹H NMR of crude products and compared with GC/MS of the crude mixture.

The applicability of the rhodacycle **3** towards the reduction with MeOH of the C=C double bonds of α , β -unsaturated ketones and α methylation was examined under the optimized reaction conditions (Table **3**). As could be noticed, the catalyst is capable of highly chemo-selective transfer hydrogenation of a range of diversely substituted unsaturated ketones and also highly active for α -methylation of the substrates, allowing the methylated saturated ketones to be obtained with high yields in general in a quick reaction time of 4 h (Entry 1-10). For the chalcones, both electron-donating and withdrawing substituents on the styryl side are tolerated. Of special note is that chalcones having 2-sustituted or 4-disubstituted styryl units were all reduced with high yields, considering that the hydride addition would take place at the β position of the C=C double bond (see below). However, with the presence of OH and NO₂ in the substrates (Entry 11-17), no target product was produced, and some intractable mixtures were generated. NO₂, a strong electronwithdrawing group, may actually participate in the reaction and react with the catalyst. The NO₂ group could be reduced to the corresponding amine, which could further react with the Rh catalyst, resulting in catalyst poisoning.

Table **3.** Scope of the methylation of ketones with methanol in the presence of **3** as a catalyst.

	$R_2 = \frac{0.5 \text{ mol\% cataly}}{\text{MeOH, 120}}$	Pist 3 , KO <i>t</i> Bu $P^{\circ}C$, 4 h R_1	
Entry	Substrate	Product	Yields
,			(%) ^a
1	° C		95
2			91
3			89
4	CI	CI	83
5			87
6			80

Chapter 3

7			85
8			70
9			88
10	Br	Br	90
11	O OH	NA	
12	HO	NA	
13	ОН	NA	
14		NA	
15	O ₂ N O	NA	
16	O ₂ N	NA	
17	O ₂ N	NA	

Reaction conditions: Under nitrogen atmosphere, ketone (0.25 mmol), MeOH (2 mL), rhodium complex (0.5 mol%), base (0.125 mmol), stirred at 120 °C for 1 h or 4 h. ^a Yield determined from isolated product.

The methylation of α , β -unsaturated ketones was also applied to the

benzylideneacetone compounds (Table **4**). Obviously, the catalyst could also show excellent chemo-selective transfer hydrogenation of the benzylideneacetone substrates and high active for methylation of the substrates. Similar to the above results, it showed efficient activity toward the substrates with the same functional groups. However, when the F group was present, only 30 % yield was reached due to its strong electronegativity. Although high activity and excellent chemo-selectivity were achieved, the aliphatic part linked with the C=O brings a second possibility for methylation (Scheme **10**). Separation of these methylation products was difficult.



Scheme **10**. Possible methylated products.

Table **4**. Scope of the methylation of ketones with methanol in the presence of **3** as a catalyst.



Chapter 3



Reaction conditions: Under nitrogen atmosphere, ketone (0.25 mmol), MeOH (2 mL), rhodium complex (0.5 mol%), base (0.125 mmol), stirred at 120 °C for 4 h. ^a Yields were determined by ¹H NMR analysis of the crude mixture and confirmed by GC analysis.

Later, the catalytical process was also applied to aliphatic α , β unsaturated ketones. Compared with aromatic substrates, the aliphatic substrates could also be hydrogenated and methylated, but with much lower yields (Table **5**). Similarly, since there are multiple positions that could be methylated, double methylation products were also found, but only the main product was list below.

Table **5**. Scope of the methylation of ketones with methanol in the presence of **3** as a catalyst.

	0.	5 mol% catalyst 3 , KO <i>t</i> Bu ➤ MeOH, 120 ºC, 4 h	°
Entry	Substrate	Product	Yield (%) ^a

Chapter 3



Reaction conditions: Under nitrogen atmosphere, ketone (0.25 mmol), MeOH (2 mL), rhodium complex (0.5 mol%), base (0.125 mmol), stirred at 120 °C for 4 h. ^a Yields were determined GC-MS and GC analysis.

To prove the methanol is the only hydrogen and methylation source during the reaction, the reduction of the model substrate in deuterated methanol (CD₃OD) was carried out. As shown in Scheme **11**, deuterium was found at both α and β position. The hydrogenation of the unsaturated ketone was proved in previous chapter. Furthermore, with the presence of the rhodium-deuteride, the formaldehyde reacted with saturated product, affording the deuterated methylation product.





3.3 Proposed Mechanism

Based on our research and study,^[31] a plausible reaction mechanism for the hydrogenation and methylation of unsaturated ketones with methanol is proposed in Scheme 12. Under the basic reaction conditions employed, the alkoxide complex A is formed from the rhodacyele in MeOH. Then the complex **A** undergoes β -hydrogen elimination, giving rise to the hydride complex **C** while releasing formaldehyde, support for which was provided in our study of reduction of aldehydes.^[28] The mechanism from **D** to **E** was published by previous work. In the presence of a base, the intermediate F was formed from deprotonation of E. G the enoate form of **F** reacts with aldehyde producing **H**. Then the intermediate **H** undergoes dehydration, giving rise to the intermediate I while releasing H₂O. The next step sees the hydride in complex **C** being transferred to the position of the C=C double bond in I. Then, the protonation of **C** with MeOH affording the hydrogenation and methylation product while regenerating complex A. Compared with the mechanism from Chapter 2, OH group important therein does not induce a similar effect for the current process: when the respective catalyst contained OH group was evaluated, a significant drop in the catalytic activity was observed. We believe that due to the presence of a strong base and higher temperature of this process, the hydroxyl group could undergo deprotonation, thereby limiting the activity of the

catalyst and preventing the further reaction.



Scheme **12**. A possible catalytic cycle for the rhodacycle **3** catalysed hydrogenation and methylation of unsaturated ketones with MeOH.

3.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, the rhodium-catalysed alkylation of ketones using methanol as both a green alkylating reagent and hydrogen source was, for the first time, achieved. The process involves hydrogenation and methylation of ketones in a single reaction system. The system has been proved to be applicable to both aromatic and aliphatic α , β -unsaturated ketones. Catalysed by catalyst **3**, a wider variety of ketones with halogen, methoxy, ester, epoxy group were hydrogenated and methylated to its saturated and alkylated product in refluxing methanol in a short time under relatively mild conditions with methanol as solvent. Only 0.5 mol% catalyst loading was applied during the reaction system. The protocol could be extended to the even more challenging of alkylation of ketones using other alcohols and have the great potential in the field of Calkylation. When formic acid was used as hydrogen and methylation source for the reaction system, there was no aimed product formed. Other alcohols such as isopropanol and ethanol were also evaluated for the reaction, reaction proceeded in a non-chemoselective manner leading to the mixture of products due to partial TH and alkylation. We also tried to reuse the catalyst by re-adding the substrates after the first catalytic run was complete. Although the reaction occurred in this case, significantly lower products yields were observed.

118

3.5 Experimental

3.5.1 General information

All reactions were carried out with oven-dried glassware using standard Schlenk techniques under an inert atmosphere of dry argon. Chemicals, reagents and solvents were purchased commercially and used as received. Methanol and ethanol were of HPLC grade. TLC silica gel 60F254 (Merck) plates were used for the analytical thin-layer chromatography and they were revealed under ultra-violet irradiation, potassium permanganate or iodine. Columns were run using a mixture of hexane/ethyl acetate and silica gel 60 Å (230-400 mesh). ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker 400 MHz spectrometer using CDCl₃ as solvent with TMS as the internal standard at 25 °C and -60 °C. ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were calibrated against the residual solvent signal at the corresponding central peak (¹H: CDCl₃ 7.26 ppm; ¹³C: CDCl₃ 77.16 ppm). Chemical shift (δ) and coupling constants (J) are given in ppm and in Hz, respectively.

Synthware[®] pressure tubes with front seal (25 mL) were used for the reaction. Analysis of reaction mixtures was undertaken on an Agilent 6890N/7890A gas chromatographic system equipped with a split/splitness injector and flame ionization detector. HP-5 capillary GC column (30m x

0.25mm i.d.) and helium as gas carrier were routinely used. Inject temperature 250 °C; detector temperature 300 °C; inlet pressure15 psi; initial oven temperature 50 °C for 2 min, then ramp up to 300 °C (20 °C/min), and 15 mins hold at 300 °C. Substrates (chalcones) were prepared by aldol condensation according to the literature method.^[37] The complex **3** was prepared using the published procedures.^[28]

3.5.2 General procedure for the iridium complexes preparation

In a 50 mL round bottomed flask, [Cp*IrCl₂]₂ dimer (100 mg, 0.16 mmol) (Cp* = pentamethylcyclopentadiene), imine ligand (2.2 eq.) and sodium acetate (10 eq.) were dissolved in DCM (10 mL). Then the reaction was stirred overnight under a nitrogen atmosphere at room temperature. The resulting mixture was then filtered to remove insoluble materials, dried over MgSO₄, and filtered, and the solvent was removed in vacuo. The crude solid product was then washed with diethyl ether/hexane to afford an air and moisture stable pure compound.^[28]

3.5.3 General procedure for the TH and methylation of unsaturated ketones in methanol

A 25 ml Synthware tube was charged with an unsaturated ketone (0.25 mmol), catalyst (0.003 mmol) and KOtBu (0.125 equiv.). MeOH (2 mL) was introduced, and then the reaction mixture was heated to reflux at 120 °C for 4 h. After cooling to room temperature, the solvent was evaporated under vacuum and flash column chromatography using a hexane/ethyl acetate mixture was carried out to purify the product.

3.5.4 Analytical data of isolated products.



Iridium complex 5:^{[31] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298K) δ(ppm): 7.51 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 7.35 (s, 1H), 7.27 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 6.64 (dd, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 3.95 (s, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.43 (s, 15H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298K)δ(ppm): 177.97, 173.36, 160.86, 157.49, 143.60, 141.43, 128.99, 120.69, 108.45, 96.11, 55.13, 17.03, 8.80.HRMS for C₂₅H₂₉IrNO₂ [M-Cl]⁺ : m/z calc: 478.1248; found 478.1235.

Due to the fluxionality, two of the aromatic hydrogens in iridium complex **5** appeared very broad and featureless at r. t. A better resolved spectrum was obtained in CD_2Cl_2 at a lower temperature (- 60 °C). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD_2Cl_2 , 298K) δ (ppm): 7.53 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 3H), 7.35 (d, *J* = 2.5 Hz, 1H), 7.28

(d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 6.64 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 3.95 (s, 3H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.43 (s, 15H). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂, 213K) δ(ppm): 7.73 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (t, *J* = 9.3 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (t, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.32 – 7.18 (m, 2H), 6.89 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 6.61 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 1.35 (s, 15H).



Iridium complex 6:^{[31] 1}H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz,298K) δ(ppm): 7.42 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.22 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 6.51 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 1.44 (s, 15H).¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298K)δ(ppm) 180.18, 170.49, 158.75, 157.54, 144.30, 141.16, 130.28, 121.25, 109.41, 88.92, 55.54, 16.80, 8.58.HRMS for C₂₅H₂₉IrNO₂ [M-Cl]⁺ : m/z calc: 478.1248; found 478.1242.

Due to the fluxionality, two of the aromatic hydrogens in iridium complex **6** appeared very broad and featureless at r. t. A better resolved spectrum was obtained in CD₂Cl₂ at a lower temperature (- 60 °C). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂, 298K) δ (ppm): ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.42 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.22 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 6.51 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 1.44 (s, 15H). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂, 213K) δ (ppm): ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.66 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.29

(d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.16 (s, 1H), 7.00 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 6.85 (dd, *J* = 26.3, 8.3 Hz, 2H), 6.37 (d, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 2.33 (s, 3H), 1.36 (s, 15H).



2-Methyl-1,3-diphenylpropan-1-one:^{[26] 1}H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.92 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.53 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.18 (dd, *J* = 14.0, 7.1 Hz, 3H), 3.74 (dd, *J* = 13.9, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 3.17 (dd, *J* = 13.6, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 2.69 (dd, *J* = 13.6, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 1.19 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 203.74 (s), 139.98 , 136.49, 132.93, 129.11, 128.66, 128.40, 128.31, 126.22, 42.78, 39.40, 17.43. HRMS (ESI): calc. for C₁₆H₁₇O [M+H]⁺ : 225.1093, found: 225.1097.



3.2.12. 3-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-1-phenylpropan-1one:^[36] ¹H NMR(400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.92 (d, *J*=7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.54 (t, *J*=7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (t, *J*=7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.10 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 2H), 6.80 (d, *J*=8.6 Hz, 2H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 3.70 (m, 1H), 3.13 (dd, *J*=13.8, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 2.63 (dd, *J*=13.8, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 1.19 (d, *J*=7.0 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl3) δ 202.78, 156.99, 135.48, 131.82, 130.90, 128.96, 127.57, 127.21, 112.73, 54.12, 41.91, 37.48, 16.29. HRMS (ESI): calc. for C₁₇H₁₉O[M+H]⁺:239.1054,found:239.1151.



3-(4-chlorophenyl)-1-phenylbutan-1-one:^{[36] 1}H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.91 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 7.54 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 7.25 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 7.20 (d, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.49 (dd, *J* = 12.5, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.26 (m,1H), 3.17 (dd, *J* = 16.5, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 1.31 (dd, *J* = 6.3 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 202.32, 137.39, 135.28,132.02, 130.94, 129.40, 127.65, 127.43, 127.21, 41.62, 37.55, 16.57. HRMS (ESI): calc. for C₁₆H₁₆ClO [M+H]⁺: 259.0704, found: 259.0708.



1-(benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methylpropan-1one: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.46 – 7.39 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (s, 1H), 7.00 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 6.72 (t, *J* = 15.1, 7.2 Hz, 3H), 5.93 (s, 2H), 3.67 (s, 3H), 3.51 (m,1H), 2.98 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 6.5 Hz, 1H), 2.53 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 1.10 – 1.06 (d, 3H).; ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.96, 158.01, 151.67, 148.22, 132.03, 131.33, 129.99, 124.37, 113.76, 108.18, 107.86, 101.82, 55.22, 42.71, 38.74, 17.55. HRMS for C₁₈H₂₀O₄ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 300.1011; found: 300.103.



3-(3-methoxyphenyl)-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.85 – 7.83 (d, *J*=8,2H), 7.11 – 7.07 (t, *J*=15.6, 1H), 6.84 – 6.82 (d, *J*=8.8, 2H), 6.72 – 6.70 (d, *J*=6, 1H), 6.66-6.62 (dd, *J*=11.2 2H), 3.77(s, 3H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 3.66-3.57(m, 1H), 3.04 (dd, *J* = 13.7, 6.3 Hz, 1H), 2.57 (dd, *J* = 13.7, 7.9 Hz, 1H), 1.10 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 202.24, 163.40, 159.66, 141.77, 130.58, 129.41, 129.31, 121.49, 114.92, 113.79, 111.39, 55.46, 55.13, 42.22, 39.54, 17.62. HRMS for C₁₈H₂₁O₃ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 285.1412; found: 285.1439.



methyl 4-(3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-3-oxopropyl)benzoate: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.92 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.90 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 7.27-7.25 (d, *J* = 8 Hz, 2H), 6.91 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.79 – 3.65 (m, 1H), 3.21 (dd, *J* = 13.6, 6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.75 (dd, *J* = 13.6, 7.4 Hz, 1H), 1.20 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H), ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl3) δ ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.73, 167.06, 163.51, 145.71, 130.55, 129.70, 129.17, 128.14, 113.85, 55.48, 52.00, 42.06, 39.41, 17.87. HRMS for C₁₉H₂₁O₄ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 313.1362; found: 313.1520.



1-(benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)-3-(4-bromophenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.44 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.32 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 2H), 7.19 (s, 1H). 6.98 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 6.75 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.03 (s, 2H), 3.59 – 3.49 (m, 1H), 3.05 – 2.98 (dd, *J*=6.8, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 2.57 (dd, *J* = 13.7, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 1.11 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.31, 150.74, 147.28, 137.98, 130.38, 130.09, 129.78, 123.33, 118.97, 107.13, 106.89, 100.84, 41.33, 37.82, 16.88, HRMS for C₁₇H₁₆BrO₃ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 348.2080; found: 348.2078.



1,3-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): δ 7.93 (d, *J* = 9.2 Hz, 2H), 7.10 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 6.91 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 6.81 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.76 (s, 3H), 3.70 – 3.59 (m, 1H), 3.08 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 2.62 (dd, *J* = 13.8, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 1.17 (d, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 202.42, 163.36, 157.99, 132.18, 130.56, 130.01, 129.36, 113.76, 113.78, 55.46, 55.23, 42.56, 38.68, 17.51. HRMS for C₁₈H₂₁O₃ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 285.1412; found: 285.1419.



3-(2-bromophenyl)-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-2-methylpropan-1-one: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.50 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 7.45 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.15 – 7.04 (m, 2H), 6.96 (td, *J* = 7.9, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 6.77 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.81 – 3.76 (m, 1H), 3.15 (dd, *J* = 13.5, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 2.79 (dd, *J* = 13.5, 7.3 Hz, 1H), 1.14 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.39, 152.21, 147.99, 138.21, 131.78, 130.97, 128.63, 127.01, 126.29, 123.51, 121.78, 109.51, 108.97, 55.02, 54.91, 39.02, 38.62, 16.83, HRMS for C₁₈H₂₀BrO₃ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 364.2510; found: 364.2517.



1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-3-(naphthalen-2-yl)propan-1-one: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 7.96 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 2H), 7.79 (m, 3H), 7.68 (s, 1H), 7.46–7.38 (m, 3H), 6.92 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 2H), 3.85 (s, 3H), 3.79 (m, 1H), 3.33 (dd, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 3.21 (dd, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 1.28(d, *J*=6.9 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 100 MHz, 298 K) δ (ppm): 197.75, 163.47, 138.79, 133.64, 132.08, 130.33, 129.99, 128.09, 127.62, 127.46, 127.21, 126.48, 126.00, 125.28, 113.77, 55.47, 40.03, 30.48, 16.65, HRMS for $C_{21}H_{21}O_2$ [M + H]⁺: m/z calc.: 305.3890; found: 305.3902.

3.5.5 NMR Spectrum







0.20J

3.5

3. 0

4.0

5.0 4.5 f1 (ppm)

5.5

AI

F90.0

6. 0

6.5

7.5

8.0

0.184

2.0

2.5

1.00-

1. 5



Chapter 3



Chapter 3





Chapter 3


Chapter 3



Chapter 3



Chapter 3



137

















Apr27-2019 Account ccg10004 Submitted_by leo Sample_name leo254-H Lab_number g61 Staff/Student ID 201104999 DEPT2 JX##





3.6 References

- [1] D. Wang and D. Astruc, *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, 115, 6621–6686.
- [2] G. A. Filonenko; R. Van Putten; E. J. M. Hensen and E. A. Pidko, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2018, 47, 1459–1483.
- [3] D. Wei and C. Darcel, *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, 119, 4, 2550–2610.
- [4] C. Ebner; A. Pfaltz, *Tetrahedron*, **2011**, 67, 10287–10290.
- [5] R. X. Liu; Y. Wang; H. Y. Cheng; Y. C. Yu; F. Y. Zhao; M. Arai, J. Mol.
 Catal. A: Chem. 2013, 366, 315–320.
- [6] T. Mizugaki; Y. Kanayama; K. Ebitani; K. Kaneda; *J. Org. Chem.* 1998,
 63, 2378-2381.
- [7] R. A. Farrar-Tobar; Z. Wei; H. Jiao; S. Hinze; J. G. de Vries, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2018, 24, 2725-2734.
- [8] X. Wu; J. Liu; A. Zanotti-Gerosa; F. Hancock; X. Li; D. Vinci; J. Ruan;
 J. Xiao, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 6718-6722.
- [9] R. Moser; Z. a. V. Bošković; C. S. Crowe; B. H. Lipshutz, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, 132, 7852-7853.
- [10] T. Ikariya; K. Murata and R. Noyori, *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2006, 4, 393–406.
- [11] Ikariya and A. J. Blacker, *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2007**, 40, 1300–1308.
- [12] Á. Molnár; A. Sárkány; M. Varga, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 173, 185-221.

- [13] Z. Wei; Y. Gong; T. Xiong; P. Zhang; H. Li; Y. Wang, *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, 5, 397-404.
- [14] Y. Zhu; H. Qian; B. A. Drake; R. Jin, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2010, 122, 1317-1320.
- [15] E. J. Barreiro; A. E. Ku¨mmerle and C. A. M. Fraga, Chem.Rev.2011,111, 5215–5246.
- [16] C. S. Yeung and V. M. Dong, *Chem. Rev.* **2011**, 111, 1215–1292.
- [17] P. T. Anastas and J. C. Warner, *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice, Oxford University Press.* **2000**.
- [18] (a) C. S. Cho; B. T. Kim; T.-J. Kim and S. C. Shim, J. Org. Chem.
 2001,66, 9020–9022; (b) A. R. Sahoo; G. Lalitha; V. Murugesh; C. Bruneau,G. V. M. Sharma; S. Suresh and M. Achard, J. Org. Chem.
 2017, 82,10727–10731.
- [19] R. Grigg; T. R. B. Mitchell; S. Sutthivaiyakit and N. Tongpenyai, *Chem. Commun.* 1981, 611–612.
- [20] K. Taguchi; H. Nakagawa; T. Hirabayashi; S. Sakaguchi and Y. Ishii, J., Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 72–73.
- [21] T. T. Danga and A. M. Seayad, Adv. Synth. Catal. 2016, 358, 3373 –
 3380
- [22] P. Piehl; M. Pena-Lopez; A. Frey; H. Neumann and M. Beller, *Chem.Commun.* 2017, 53, 3265–3268.

- [23] W.H. Lin and H.-F. Chang, *Catal. Today.* **2004**, 97, 181–188.
- [24] M. Qian; M. A. Liauw and G. Emig, *Appl. Catal.* 2003, 238, 211–222.
- [25] N. Castellanos-Blanco; M. Flores-Alamo; J. J. García, Organometallics. 2012, 31, 680-686.
- [26] A. Bruneau-Voisine; L. Pallova; S. Bastin; V. Ce´sar and J. Sortais, Chem. Commun. 2019, 55, 314
- [27] D. Deng; B. Hu; M. Yang; D. Chen, Organometallics. 2018, 37, 3353-3359
- [28] A. H. Aboo; E. L. Bennett; M. Deeprose; C. M. Robertson; J. A. Iggo,
 J. Xiao, *Chem. Commun.* 2018, 54, 11805–11808
- [29] E. Śmigiera, J. Kijeński, O. Osawaru, A. Zgudka and A. R. Migdał, *Chemik*, **2013**, 67, 502–513
- [30] C. Wang and J. Xiao, *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, 53, 3399
- [31] G. A. Olah, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2013**, 52, 104–107.
- [32] G. A. Olah, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2005**, 44, 2636–2639.
- [33] C. Chauvier and T. Cantat, ACS Catal. **2017**, 7, 2107–2115.
- [34] K. Natte; H. Neumann; M. Beller and R. V. Jagadeesh, *Angew.Chem*.*Int. Ed.* 2017, 56, 6384–6394.
- [35] D. Talwar; X. Wu; O. Saidi; N. P. Salguero; J. Xiao, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2014, 20, 12835-12842.

- [36] J. Das; K. Singh; M. Vellakkaran and D. Banerjee, *Org. Lett.* 2018, 20, 5587–559.
- [37] El-Meligie; S., Taher; A. T., Kamal; A. M., Youssef, *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*2017. 126, 52–60.

Chapter 4: Conclusion

This thesis describes the investigation on rhodium-catalysed transfer hydrogenation and methylation. In Chapter 1, I summarised the status quo on the reduction of carbonyl compounds with different hydrogen donors. Although these types of reactions have been extensively studied by many research groups, a number of limitations and challenges still remain, such as the limited examples in the reduction process, and the reduction with the use of inexpensive and safe hydrogen sources that could perform under milder reaction conditions.

A cyclometalated rhodium complex has been found to be highly efficient and chemoselective for the TH of carbonyl compounds using methanol as hydrogen source. A wide range of substrates were screened in the reaction system with high yield and chemoselectivity using only 1 mol% catalyst loading. Few molecular catalysts are capable of dehydrogenating methanol under such mild conditions. Further studies showed the importance of the hydroxy functionality of the imino ligand.

In the field of hydrogen borrowing reactions, the advantage of this complex in methanol dehydrogenation may allow it to be used for methylation reactions. So, another cyclometalated rhodium complex **3** was prepared and introduced for TH and methylation of carbonyl compounds. A wider variety of ketones with halogen, methoxy, ester,

150

epoxy group were hydrogenated and methylated to its saturated and alkylated product in refluxing methanol in a short time under relatively mild conditions with methanol as hydrogen donor, C source and solvent. The catalyst loading could be reduced to 0.5 molCHEM286 Group 1 Workshop 2 %. It provided the possibility to achieve TH and chain growth of carbonyl compounds in one pot system.

During the thesis, we also find out that the possibility to replace methanol with heavy alcohols as both hydrogen donor and C source. Even the product was mixture, it still provides a new pathway for chain growth in future.

In the field of catalytic hydrogenation, catalysts based on non-noble metals, such as manganese^[1-3], iron^[4,5], cobalt^[6-8], nickle^[9-10], etc, have continued to be investigated over the last decade.^[11] The search for more efficient metal catalysts could be a future direction of more environmentally friendly transfer hydrogenation and transamination processes.

References

- [1] V. Papa, Y. Cao, A. Spannenberg, K. Junge, M. Beller, Nat. Catal. 2020,
 3, 135–142.
- [2] K. Azouzi, D. A. Valyaev, S. Bastin, J.-B. Sortais, Curr. Opin. Green Sustain. Chem. 2021, 31, 100511.
- [3] W. Yang, I. Y. Chernyshov, R. K. A. van Schendel, M. Weber, C. Müller,G. A. Filonenko, E. A. Pidko, Nat. Commun. 2021, 12, 12.
- [4] S. Enthaler, K. Junge, M. Beller, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 3317–3321.
- [5] W. Zuo, R. H. Morris, Nat. Protoc. 2015, 10, 241–257.
- [6] M. R. Friedfeld, M. Shevlin, J. M. Hoyt, S. W. Krska, M. T. Tudge, P. J.Chirik, Science 2013, 342, 1076–1080.
- [7] T. Dombray, C. Helleu, C. Darcel, J.-B. Sortais, Adv. Synth. Catal. 2013, 355, 3358–3362.
- [8] R. V Jagadeesh, D. Banerjee, P. B. Arockiam, H. Junge, K. Junge, M. M. Pohl, J. Radnik, A. Brückner, M. Beller, Green Chem. 2015, 17, 898–902.
- [9] D. Tavor, I. Gefen, C. Dlugy, A. Wolfson, Synth. Commun. 2011, 41, 3409–3416.
- [10] H. Xu, P. Yang, P. Chuanprasit, H. Hirao, J. (Steve) Zhou, Angew. Chem.Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 5112–5116.

[11] D. Wang, D. Astruc, Chem. Rev. 2015, 115, 6621–6686.